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The Honorable Tommy Davis, Mayor, 
and the Members of the Board of Aldermen 

City ofMinden, Louisiana 

Report on the Financial Statements 

We have audited the accompanying financiai statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City ofMinden, 
Louisiana, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2015, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements of the City's primary 
government as listed in the table of contents. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financiai statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

Auditor's responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not 
audit the financial statements of the City ofMinden, Employee Benefit Plan & Trust, which represent 
92% and 100%, respectively of the assets and net position of the fiduciary funds. Tliose financial 
statements for this fiduciary fund were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to us, 
and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the City ofMinden, Employee Benefit 
plan & Trust Fund is based solely on the reports of the other auditors. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the 
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Governmenl Audilmg Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's Judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 



error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City's 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the City's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation in the 
financial statements. 

We believe that audit evidence we have obtained is sulficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinions. 

Basis for Adverse Opinion on the Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units 

The financial statements referred to above include only the primary government of the City, which 
consists of all funds, organizations, institutions, agencies, departments, and offices that comprise the 
City's legal entity. The financial statements do not include financial data for the City's legally separate 
component units. Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require the 
financial data for the City's legally separate component units to be reported with the financial data of 
the City's primary government. The amount by which this departure would affect the assets, liabilities, 
deferred outflows/inflows, net position, revenues, and expenses of the government-wide financial 
statements has not been determined. 

Adverse Opinion 

In our opinion, because of the significance of the matter described in the "Basis for Adverse Opinion on 
Aggregate Discretely Presented Component Units" paragraph, the financial statements referred to above 
do not present fairly the financial position of the aggregate discretely presented component units of the 
City of Minden, Louisiana as of September 30, 2015, or the changes in financial position thereof the 
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

Unmodified Opinion 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements referred to 
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental 
activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information 
of the City of Minden, Louisiana, as of September 30, 2015, and the respective changes in financial 
position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 



other Matters 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management's Discussion and Analysis, Budgetary Comparison Schedules, Condition rating of the 
City's Street System, Schedule of Funding Progress for Other Post Employment Benefit Plan, Schedule 
of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability, and Schedule of Employer Contributions on pages 5-14 
and 77-83 be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a 
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, 
who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in 
an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures 
to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses 
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the 
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or 
provide any assurance. 

Other Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City of Minden, Louisiana's basic financial statements. The other 
supplementary information on pages 85-88 are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are 
not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The other supplementary information on pages 85-88 is the responsibility of management and was 
derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in 
the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and 
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare 
the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional 
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
In our opinion, the other supplementary information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation 
to the financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued a report dated March 31, 
2016, on our consideration of the City of Minden, Louisiana's internal control over financial reporting 



and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant 
agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of 
internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to 
provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering 
the City's internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

LO. 
Minden, Louisiana 
March 31, 2016 



Tommy Davis, Mayor 
H'vv'w.mindenusa.com 

520 Broadway • P .0.Box580 • Minden,Louisiana71058• Telephone(318)377-2144 • Fax (318)371-4200 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A) 

Our discussion and analysis of the City of Minden, Louisiana's financial performance provides an 
overview of the City's financial activities for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015. Please read it 
in conjunction with the City's financial statements, which begin on page 16. 

The City adopted two new statements of financial accounting standards issued by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board; 

• Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting/or POensions - an amendment of GASB 
Statement No. 27 establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting for defined benefit 
pensions and defined contribution pensions provided to employees of state and local 
governmental employers through pension plans that are administered through trusts or 
equivalent arrangements. This Statement establishes standards for measuring and recognizing 
pension liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources, and 
expense/expenditures. For defined benefit pensions, this Statement identifies the methods and 
assumptions that should be used to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit 
payments to their actuarial present value, and attribute that present value to periods of employee 
service. 

• Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement 
Date - an amendment of GASB Statement No. 68, amends paragraph 137 of Statement 68 to 
require that, at transition, a government recognize a beginning deferred outflow of resources for 
its pension contributions, if any, made subsequent to the measurement date of the beginning net 
pension liability. 

The adoption of Statements No. 68 and No. 71 has no impact on the City's governmental fund 
financial statements, which continue to report expenditures in the amount of the actuarially 
determined contributions, as required by state law. The calculation of pension contributions is 
unaffected by the change. However, the adoption has resulted in the restatement of the City's fiscal 
year 2014 government-wide financial statements to reflect the reporting of net pension liabilities, 
deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources for each of its qualified pension 
plans and the recognition of pension expense in accordance with the provisions of the statements. 
Net position as of October 1, 2014 was decreased by $11,008,684 reflecting the cumulative 
retrospective effect of the adoption. Refer to Note 10 for more information regarding the City's 
pensions and Note 20 on changes made due to prior period adjustments for pensions and other 
adjustments made to the prior year financials. 

Michael Fluhr 
City Clerk - Treasurer 

FayrineA. Kennon-Gilbert 
Councilwoman - District B 

George W. Rolfe, Jr. 
Public Works Director 

Vincen Bradford 
Councilman - District C 

Charles Miniflcld 
City Attorney 

Mike Toland 
Councilman - District D 

Wayne Edwards 
Councilman - District A 

Benny Gray 
Councilman - District E 



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

• The City's net position decreased as a result of this year's operations. The net position of 
both our governmental and business-type activities decreased by $1.0 million. 

• During the year the City's governmental activities incurred expenses of $2.9 million more 
than the $7.4 million generated in tax and other revenues which fund the governmental 
programs. Last year, expenses exceeded revenues by $2.6 million. 

• In the City's business-type activities, revenues were comparable to the prior year revenues. 

• The total cost of all of the City's programs was approximately $31.3 million. 

USING THIS ANNUAL REPORT 

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. The Statement of Net Position and the 
Statement of Activities (on pages 16-17) provide information about the activities of the City as a 
whole and present a longer-term view of the City's finances. Fund financial statements start on page 
18. For governmental activities, these statements tell how these services were financed in the short 
tenn as well as what remains for future spending. Fund financial statements also report the City's 
operations in more detail than the government-wide statements by providing information about the 
City's most significant funds. The remaining statements provide financial information about 
activities for which the City acts solely as a trustee or agent for the benefit of those outside the 
government. 

Reporting the City as a Whole 

Our analysis of the City as a whole begins on page 16. One of the most important questions asked 
about the City's finances is, "Is the Cit>' as a whole better off or worse off as a result of the year's 
activities?" The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities report information about 
the City as a whole and about its activities in a way that helps answer this question. These statements 
include all assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting, which is similar to the 
accounting used by most private-sector companies. All of the current year's revenues and expenses 
are taken into account regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

These two statements report the Cit> 's net position and changes in them. You can think of the City's 
net position—the difference between assets and deferred outflows of resources and liabilities and 
deferred inflows of resources—as one way to measure the City's financial health, ox financial 
position. Over time, increases or decreases in the City's net position are one indicator of whether its 
financial health is improving or deteriorating. You will need to consider other nonfinancial factors, 
however, such as changes in the City's property tax base and the condition of the City's roads, to 
assess the overall health of the City. 

In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, we divide the City into two kinds of 
activities: 

• Governmental activities - Most of the City's basic services are reported here, including 
the police, fire, public works, parks and recreation, sanitation and health, highway and 
streets, economic development, and general administration. Property taxes, sales taxes, 
franchise fees, and state and federal grants finance most of these activities. 



• Business-type activities - The City charges a fee to customers to help it cover all or most 
of the cost of certain services it provides. The City's water, sewer, and electrical systems 
are reported here. 

Reporting the City's Most Significant Funds 

Our analysis of the City's major funds begins on page 18. The fund financial statements provide 
detailed information about the most significant funds, not the City as a whole. Some funds are 
required to be established by state law and by bond covenants. However, the City Council establishes 
other funds to help it control and manage money for particular purposes (like street improvements) or 
to show that it is meeting legal responsibilities for using certain taxes, grants and other money (like 
sales taxes restricted for specific use). The City's two kinds of funds -governmental and proprietary 
use different accounting approaches. 

• Governmental funds - Most of the City's basic services are reported in governmental 
funds which focus on how money flows into and out of those funds and the balances left 
at year-end that are nonspendable, restricted, committed, assigned or unassigned. These 
classifications of fund balance show the nature and extent of constraints placed on the 
City's fund balances by law, creditors, City council, and the City's annually adopted 
budget. Unassigned fund balance is available for spending for any purpose. These funds 
are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting, which 
measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. The 
governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of the City's general 
government operations and the basic services it provides. Governmental fund 
information helps you determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that 
can be spent in the near future to finance the City's programs. We describe the 
relationship (or differences) between governmental activities (reported in the Statement 
of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental Jiinds in a 
reconciliation following the fund financial statements. 

• Proprietary funds - When the City charges customers for the services it provides — 
whether to outside customers or to other units of the City - these services are generally 
reported in proprietary funds. Proprietary funds are reported in the same way that all 
activities are reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities. In 
fact, the City's enterprise funds (a component of proprietary funds) are the same as the 
business-type activities we report in the government-wide statements but provide more 
detail and additional information, such as cash flows, for proprietary funds. 

The City as Trustee 

The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for the Police Bond Fund and the Pension Benefit Trust Fund. 
The City's fiduciary activities are reported in a separate Statement of Fiduciary Net Position on page 
26. We exclude these activities from the City's other financial statements because the City cannot use 
these assets to finance its operations. The City is responsible for ensuring that the assets reported in 
these funds are used for their intended purpose. 



THE CITY AS A WHOLE 

The City's combined net position decreased by $1.0 million. In contrast, last year net position 
decreased by $ 1.8 million. Looking at net position and net expenses of governmental and business-
type activities separately, however, provides more detail. Our analysis below focuses on the net 
position (Table 1) and changes in net position (Table 2) of the City's governmental and business-type 
activities. 

(Table 1) 
Net Position 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-type 
Activities 

Total 
Primary 

Government 
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 

Current and other assets 
Capital assets 

Total assets 

$ 8,105,973 
22.647.659 
30.753.632 

$ 7,539,851 
22.705.887 
30.245.738 

$ 13,065,338 
19.531.436 
32.596.774 

$ 13,218,578 
20.457.146 
33.675.724 

$21,171,311 
42.179.095 
63.350.406 

$ 20,758,429 
43.163.033 
63.921.462 

Deferred outflows 1.749.755 98.666 966.998 2.716,753 98.666 

Other liabilities 
Long-term liabilities 

Total liabilities 

413,354 
15.362.218 
15.775.572 

607,137 
6.159.199 
6.766.336 

1,978,514 
5.799.774 
7.778.288 

2,147,053 
1.676.439 
3.823.492 

2,391,868 
21.161.992 
23.553.860 

2,754,190 
7.835.638 

10.589.828 

Deferred inflows 857.744 _ 190.868 1.048.612 

Net position: 
Invested in capital assets, 

net of related debt 
Restricted 
Unrestricted 

Total net position 

20,159,722 
3,550,091 

("7.839.7421 
S 15.870.071 

20,460,994 
3,147,966 

(30.8921 
% 23.578.068 

19,531,436 
87,033 

5.976.147 
$25,594,616 

20,457,146 
1,232 

9.393.854 
$ 29.852.232 

39,691,158 
3,637,124 

11.863.5951 
$41,464,687 ! 

40,918,140 
3,149,198 
9.362.962 

$ 51,430.300 

The largest portion of the City of Minden's net position totaling approximately $39.7 million 
(95.72%) reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, streets, drainage, machinery 
and equipment) less any related debt used to acquire those assets that are still outstanding. The City 
of Minden uses these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not 
available for future spending. Although the City of Minden's investment in its capital assets is 
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be 
provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these 
liabilities. 



(Table 2) 
Changes in Net Position 

Revenues 
Program revenues; 
Charges for services 

Governmentai 
Activities 

2015 2014 

Business-type 
Activities 

2015 2014 

Primary 
Government 

2015 2014 

$1,451,869 $ 1,498,038 $19,977,785 $19,912,765 $ 21,429,654 $21,410,803 
Operating grants/contributions 610,869 441,505 66,622 - 677,491 441,505 
Capital grants/contributions 157,273 1,376,762 108,008 39,579 265,281 1,416,341 

General revenues 
Property taxes 442,316 444,504 - - 442,316 444,504 
Sales taxes 5,827,717 5,796,075 - - 5,827,717 5,796,075 
Franchise taxes 353,354 359,255 - ' 353,354 359,255 
Occupational licenses 580,410 581,779 - ' 580,410 581,779 
Other general revenues 239.447 220.803 438.849 408.552 678,296 629.355 

Total revenues 9.663.255 10.718,721 20..591.264 20.360.896 30.2.54.519 31.079.617 
Program expenses 
General government 3,308,492 3,507,662 - - 3,308,492 3,507,662 
Public safety 4,514,955 4,721,533 - - 4,514,955 4,721,533 
Highway and streets 1,119,623 1,150,697 - - 1,119,623 1,150,697 
Sanitation and health 925,689 948,381 - - 925,689 948,381 
Parks and recreation 1,980,697 2,237,866 - - 1,980,697 2,237,866 
Public works 621,643 644,830 - - 621,643 644,830 
Interest on long-term debt 85,137 78,121 - - 85,137 78,121 
Water - - 1,914,458 1,882,322 1,914,458 1,882,322 
Sewer - - 1,671,655 1,472,766 1,671,655 1,472,766 
Electric - - 13,962,542 14,965,286 13,962,542 14,965,286 
Other - 1.159.920 1.232.794 1.159.920 1.232.794 

Total expenses 12.556.236 13-289.090 18.708.575 19.553.168 31.264.811 32.842.258 
Excess (deficiency) before 
transfers (2,892,981) (2,570,369) 1,882,689 807,728 (1,010,292) (1,762,641) 

Transfers 2.833.901 2.652.378 f2.833-901) (2.652.3781 . 
Change in net position (59,080) 82,009 (951,212) (1,844,650) (1,010,292) (1,762,641) 
Net position, beginning, as 
originally stated 23,578,068 23,496,059 29,852,232 31,696,882 53,430,300 55,192,941 

Prior period adjustment f7.648.917) - (3.306.404) (10.955.321) 
Net position, beginning, 15.929.151 23.496.059 26.545.828 31.696.882 42.474.979 55.192.941 

restated 
Net position, end of year $ ; 15.870.071 ? 5 23.578.068 $ 25.594.616 $ 29.852.232 $41464.687 R 53.430.300 

Governmental Activities - Net Position 
Expenses of the governmental activities exceeded the revenues generated by taxes and other program 
revenues by $2.9 million. As done in prior years, the deficit continues to be funded with transfers of 
money from the City's utility fund. 

The restricted net position of the governmental activities represents the portion of net position that is 
not available to finance the day-to-day operations. The use of restricted assets is subject to 
constraints established by a voter-approved city ordinance. Restricted net position increased by 
$402,125 to a total of $3.6 million, a majority of which is available to finance specific funding for 
sewer and recreational activities. 



Business-type Activities - Net Position 
This past year, revenues exceeded expenses for business-type activities by $I .9 million. After 
transferring approximately $2.83 million to the City's general fund to fimd its deficit, the net position 
of the City's business type activities decreased by over $951,000. The City's total revenues were 
comparable to last year's revenues. The total cost of all programs was approximately $18.7 million, 
with 75% of the cost occurring within the electric department. 

Our analysis that follows separately considers the operations of governmental and business-type 
activities. The total revenues for governmental activities were $1.1 million lower than last year. This 
is mainly from a decrease in the amount of capital grants received this year to fund airport 
improvements. The City's governmental activities rely heavily on sales tax. Sales taxes account for 
$5.8 million out of the City's $9.7 million governmental revenues. 

Comparison of current year and prior year governmental 
activity revenues 

$7,000,000 
$6,000,000 
$5,000,000 
$4,000,000 
$3,000,000 
$2,000,000 
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The following chart displays the various types of governmental revenues and their respective 
percentage of total governmental revenues received as of September 30, 2015: 

2015 Governmental Revenues 

Occupational 
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taxes 
4% 
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The following chart displays the various types of governmental activity expenses and their respective 
percentage of total governmental expense received as of September 30, 2015: 

2015 Governmental Expenses 
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The City's largest program expenses during the current year were public safety and general 
government, which are 36% and 26% of the total governmental type program expense in the cun'ent 
year, respectively. The chart below compares program expenses of the current year to the prior year. 

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES - PROGRAM EXPENSES 
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Business-type activities 

Total revenues received from charges for services was comparable to prior year's revenues. 

The cost of business-type activities was approximately $18.7 million dollars. The largest portion of 
the costs occurred within the operation of the electrical system. The water and sewer costs make up 
approximately 19% of the total cost. 

The surplus from operating the utility system was more than in prior year and the City transferred 
funds from the business-type activities to the governmental activities to assist in the day-to-day cost 
of governmental activity operations. The City transferred approximately $2.8 million to the 
governmental activities during the fiscal year. 

THE CITY'S FUNDS 

Governmental funds - The focus of the City of Minden's governmental funds is to provide 
information on near-term inflow, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is 
useful in assessing the City of Minden's financing requirements. In particular, unreserved fund 
balance may serve as a useful measure of a City's net resources available for spending at the end of 
the fiscal year. 

As the City completed the year, its governmental funds (as presented in the balance sheet on page 18) 
reported a combined fund balance of $7,548,957, an increase of $807,817 in comparison with the 
prior fiscal year. 

City revenues decreased by approximately $1.4 million, a majority of which occurred because of a 
decrease in grant revenues for airport projects for the current year. City expenditures also decreased 
by approximately $789,000, with largest decreases occurring in costs within public works - airport 
and parks and recreation departments. In the prior year, the City incurred costs from airport 
improvement projects which it did not incur this past year. 

Proprietary funds - The City's proprietary fund statements provide the same type of information 
found in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 

While the Sewer Plant Sales Tax Fund transferred in approximately $808,000 to the utility fund, those 
resources are restricted to assist funding the costs of sewerage activities. Approximately $3.64 
million was transferred from the utility fund to the general fund to assist funding of the City's general 
fund activities, which includes operating the administrative, civic center, city court, building 
inspector, and main street programs. The amount transferred to the general fund was comparable to 
the amount transferred in the prior year. 

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 

During the year, the City Council amended the general fund budget one time on September 8, 2015. 

The amendment to the General Fund budget was made to reduce originally budgeted revenues by 
$484,000, transfers by $220,000 and expenditures of the departments by $704,000. 
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

At the end of September 30, 2015, the City had $42,179,095 invested in capital assets including 
police and fire equipment, buildings, park facilities, water, sewer and electrics lines. This amount 
represents a decrease of approximately $984,000 in investments in capital assets. 

City of Minden's Capital Assets at Year-end 
(Net of Depreciation) 

Governmental 
Activities 

Business-type 
Activities Totals 

Land 
2015 

$ 1,942,730 
2014 

$ 1,906,300 
2015 

$ 332,065 
2014 

$ 332,065 
2015 

$ 2,274,795 
2014 

$ 2,238,365 

Construction in progress 155,130 1,073,168 40,019 46,870 195,149 1,120,038 

Building and improvements 11,127,648 10,331,711 5,075,075 5,447,296 16,202,723 15,779,007 

Land improvements other than buildings 5,621,395 5,897,567 12,677,056 13,021,541 18,298,451 18,919,108 

Equipment 1,372,985 1,116,700 1,407,221 1,609,374 2,780,206 2,726,074 

Infrastructure 2.427.771 2.380.441 . . 2 427.771 2.380.441 

Totals S2? 647.659 S22.705.887 : S42.179.095 S43.16.3.033 

Major construction projects undertaken by the City include the following: 

Water main improvements 
Airport 10 Unit T Hangars 
Airport Design of Terminal 

Costs incurred 
during 

09/30/2015 
$ 330,545 

167,729 
80.914 

S 579.188 

Completed 
cost 

of proiect 
$ 365,902 

1,176,005 
Not completed 

.$ 1.541.907 

Total 
donation/grant 

award 

$ 947,894* 
$ 90,035* 

* The City was awarded federal and state grants to reimburse all or a portion of the cost of the 
projects as expenses are incurred. 

Only bridges owned by the City are capitalized as infrastructure. The City has elected to report its 
system of streets under the modified approach. Neither their historical cost nor related depreciation 
has been reported in the financial statements. There were no significant changes in the assessed 
condition of infrastructure assets eligible under the modified approach. The current assessed 
condition of roads is comparative with the condition level the City has established. 
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Debt 

At year-end, the City had $1,940,000 in debt as compared to $2,230,000 last year. 

Governmental Business-type 
Activities Activities Totals 

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014 
General obligation bonds 
(backed by taxes & City) $ 1,940,000 $2,230,000 $ - $ . $ 1,940,000 $2,230,000 

More detailed information about the City's long-term liabilities is presented in Note 12 to the 
financial statements. 

COMPONENT UNITS 

The City has chosen not to include the following component units in the basic financial statements: 
City Court of Minden and Minden Ward Marshal. Separate financial statements for each of these 
component units can be obtained by contacting the component unit. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET AND RATES 

The economic situation for the City of Minden has not significantly improved and the best indicator 
here fore is a stagnant sales tax below expectations. However, the City was able to maintain 
anticipated service levels, preserve the current staff levels and conserve financial reserves. A water 
rate increase helped to maintain the aging utility infrastructure. 

The projected operating budget for FY 2015/2016 will be overall comparable to the prior year's 
budget based on the same utility rates, continued low interest revenues in investments and dominated 
by substantial expenditures related to personnel (health care and retirement). 

CONTACTING THE CITY'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, and creditors with a 
general overview of the City's finances and to show the City's accountability for the money it 
receives. If you have questions about this report or need additional information, contact the City 
Clerk's office at 520 Broadway, Minden, Louisiana. 
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STATEMENT A 

CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Statement of Net Position 
September 30,2015 

Primary Government 
Governmental Business-Type 

Activities Activities Total 
ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,396,689 $ 3,131,402 $ 7,528,091 
investments 2,910,006 4,738,609 7,648,615 
Receivables 659,818 3,384,722 4,044,540 
Due from other governments 68,169 41,403 109,572 
Due from other funds 12,150 - 12,150 
Inventory 11,601 988,336 999,937 
Prepaids 47,540 27,316 74,856 
Restricted assets - noncurrent: 
Cash and cash equivalents - 749,233 749,233 
Investments - 4,317 4,317 

Capital assets: 
Land and construction in progress 2,097,860 372,084 2,469,944 
Depreciable capita! assets, net of depreciation 20,549,799 19,159,352 39,709,151 

TOTAL ASSETS 30,753,632 32,596,774 63,350,406 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred charges on refunding 82,210 - 82,210 
Deferred outflows on pensions 1,667,545 966,998 2,634,543 

TOTAL DEFERRED OUTLFOWS OF RESOURCES 1,749,755 966,998 2,716,753 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts, salaries and other payables 390,455 1,306,483 1,696,938 
Interest payable 22,899 - 22,899 
Due to other funds - 5,514 5,514 
Deposits payable - 666,517 666,517 
Long-term liabilities 

Due within one year 400,551 23,936 424,487 
Due in more than one year 14,961,667 5,775,838 20,737,505 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 15,775,572 7,778,288 23,553,860 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred inflows on pensions 857,744 190,868 1,048,612 

NET POSITION 
Net investment in capital assets 20,159,722 19,531,436 39,691,158 
Restricted for: 

Sewerage, recreational facilities, and related 
debt service 3,521,824 - 3,521,824 

Drug enforcement activities 28,267 - 28,267 
Utility meter deposits • 87,033 87,033 

Unrestricted (7,839,742) 5,976,147 (1,863,595) 

TOTAL NET POSITION 3 i 15,870,071 $ 25,594,616 $ 41,464,687 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF MINDFN, LOUISIANA 
Statement of Activities 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

STATEMENT B 

Program Revenues Net (Expenses) Revenues and 
Net 

Charges for Grants and Capital Grants & (Expenses)/ Govemmenta! Business-type 
Funclions/Proarams Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Revenue Activities Activities Total 
Governmental activities: 

General government $ (3,308,492) ! K 130,611 $ 64,322 $ $ (3,113,559) S (3,113,559) $ - $ (3.113.559) 
Public safety (4,514,955) 157,581 502,083 16,705 (3,838,586) (3,838.586) - (3,838,586) 
Highway and streets (U 19,623) - 27,570 16,000 (1,076,053) (1,076,053) - (1,076,053) 
Sanitation and health (925,689) 832,358 2,363 - (90,968) (90.968) - (90,968) 
Parks and recreation (1.980.697) 64.023 13.613 14,996 (1,888,065) (1,888,065) - (1,888,065) 
Public works (621,643) 267,296 918 109.572 (243,857) (243,857) - (243,857) 
Interest on long-term debt (85.137) - - - (85.137) (85.137) - (85,137) 

Total govenimenlal activities (12,556,236) 1,451,869 610,869 157,273 (10.336,225) (10,336,225) - (10.336.225) 

Business-type activities; 
Water (1,914,458) 2.020,022 13.097 68.008 186.669 - 186.669 186,669 
Sewer (1,671.655) 882,084 10.873 40,000 (738.698) - (738.698) (738,698) 
Electric (13,962,542) 17,075.679 27,050 - 3.140,187 - 3,140,187 3,140,187 
Other (1,159,920) - 15.602 - (1.144,318) - (1,144,318) (1-144.318) 

Total business-type activities (18,708,575) 19.977,785 66,622 108,008 1.443,840 - t.443,840 1,443,840 

Total primary government $ (31,264,811) $ 21,429,654 $ 677,491 $ 265,281 $ (8,892.385) $ (10.336,225) $ 1,443,840 $ (8,892,385) 

General revenues: 
Properly taxes levied for general purposes 442,316 - 442,316 
Sales taxes 5,827,717 - 5,827,717 
Franchise taxes 353,354 - 353,354 
Occupational licenses 580,410 - 580.410 
Grants and contributions not restricted to specific programs 3,963 29,448 33,411 
Investment earnings 29,065 52,746 81,811 
Other genera) revenues 206,419 356,655 563,074 

Transfers 2,833,901 (2.833.901) -
Total general revenues and transfers 10,277,145 (2,395,052) 7,882,093 

Change in net position (59,080) (951,212) (1,010,292) 

Net position-beginning, as originally stated 23,578,068 29,852,232 53,430,300 
Prior period adjustment (7,648,917) (3,306,404) (10,955,321) 

Net position-beginning, restated 15,929,151 26,545,828 42,474,979 

Net position-ending $ 15.870,07! $ 25,594,616 $ 41,464,687 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 



STATEMENT C 

CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Balance Sheet 
Governmental Funds 
September 30, 2015 

General 
Fund 

Sales 
Tax 
Fund 

Sales Tax -
Sewerage 

Fund 

Other 
Governmental 

Funds 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 
ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Receivables (net of allowances for uncollectibles) 
Due from other funds 
Due from other governments 
Inventory 

$ 1,025,475 3 
624,842 
153,701 

12,150 
68,169 
11,601 

: 1,123,948 
963,435 
251,094 

$ 1,946,931 
752,959 
251,095 

$ 300,335 
568,770 

3,928 

$ 4,396,689 
2,910,006 

659,818 
12,150 
68,169 
11,601 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 1,895,938 3 i 2,338,477 $ 2,950,985 $ 873,033 $ 8,058,433 

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, 
AND FUND BALANCES 
LIABILITIES 

Accounts, salaries, and other payables $ 390,455 ! e $ $ $ 390,455 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Unavailable revenues 118,849 172 119,021 

FUND BALANCES 
Nonspendable 
Restricted 
Assigned 
Unassigned 

11,601 

1,375,033 
2,338,477 

2,950,985 864,619 
8,242 

11,601 
3,815,604 
2,346,719 
1,375,033 

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 1,386,634 2,338,477 2,950,985 872,861 7,548,957 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES $ 1,895,938 $ 2,338,477 $ 2,950,985 $ 873,033 $ 8,058,433 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 



STATEMENT D 

CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet 
to the Statement of Net Position 

September 30,2015 

Amounts repoited for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Position are different because: 

Fund balances, total governmental funds (Statement C) $ 7,548,957 

Some receivables are not available to pay the current period expenditures 
and, therefore are deferred in the fund financial statements 

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial 
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the fund financial statements 

Other assets used in governmental activities that are not financial 
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the fund financial statements 
Prepaid assets 

Deferred outflows/inflows related to pensions are not due and payable in the 
current period and accordingly not recorded in the fund financial statements 

Deferred outflows on pensions 
Deferred inflows on pensions 

Long-term liabilities applicable to the City's governmental activities are 
not due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported 
as fund liabilities in the governmental funds. Ail liabilities, both current 
and long-term are reported in the Statement of Net Position. 
Accrued interest payable 
Compensated absences 
Bonds payable 
less: deferred charge on refunding 
Capital lease obligation 
Claims payable 
Pension liability 
OPEB obligation 

Net position of governmental activities (Statement A) 

> (22,899) 
(323,157) 

(1,940,000) 
82,210 

(525,037) 
(229,042) 

(8,419,446) 
(3,925,536) 

119,021 

22,647,659 

47,540 

1,667,545 
(857,744) 

(15,302,907) 

$ 15,870,071 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 



CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 
and Changes in Fund Balances 

Governmental Funds 

STATEMENT E 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

REVENUES 
Taxes: 

Ad valorem 
Sales and use 

Licenses and permits 
Fees and rentals 
Charges for services 
Intergovernmental revenues: 
Federal grants 
State/Parish 
Other 

Fines and forfeitures 
Investment earnings 
Other revenues 

Total revenues 

EXPENDITURES 
General government 
Public safety 
Highways and streets 
Sanitation and health 
Parks and recreation 
Public works 
Debt service 

Total expenditures 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 
over (under) expenditures 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 
Transfers in 
Transfers out 
Proceeds from capital lease 

Total other financing sources (uses) 

General 
Fund 

3,631,857 

2,798,438 
4,778,045 
875,850 
920,145 

1,562,502 
661,845 
97,880 

11,694,705 

(8,062,848) 

7,742,489 

619,568 

Sales 
Tax 
Fund 

$ 439,055 $ 

578,268 
547,607 

1,098,685 

10,855 
642,997 
37,485 
103,838 
5,430 

167,637 

2,913,859 

12,818 

2,926,677 

45,455 

45,455 

2,881,222 

Sales Tax -
Sewerage 

Fund 

2,913,858 

6,043 

2,919,901 

44,870 

44,870 

2,875,031 

(2,782,200) (2,479,413) 

Other 
Governmental 

Funds 

20,509 
4,773 

177 
25,459 

16,591 

347,925 
364,516 

(339,057) 

353,025 

8,362,057 (2,782,200) (2,479,413) 353,025 

Total 
Governmental 

Funds 

439,055 
5,827,717 
578,268 
547,607 

1,098,685 

10,855 
642,997 
37,485 
124,347 
29,064 
167,814 

9,503,894 

2,888,763 
4,794,636 
875,850 
920,145 

1,562,502 
661,845 
445,805 

12,149,546 

(2,645,652) 

8,095,514 
(5,261,613) 

619,568 
3,453,469 

Net change in fund balance 

Fund balances - beginning 
Fund balances - ending 

299,209 

1,087,425 

99,022 

2,239,455 

395,618 

2,555,367 

13,968 

858,893 

807,817 

6,741,140 
$ 1,386,634 $ 2,338,477 $ 2,950,985 $ 872,861 $ 7,548,957 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT F 

CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 

Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, 
and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds 
to the Statement of Activities 

For the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are different because: 

Net change in fund balances, total governmental funds, Statement E $ 807,817 

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the 
Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated 
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which 
capital outlays exceeded depreciation in the current period. (208,486) 

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current resources 
are not reported as revenues in the fund financial statements (55,857) 

The recognition of pension expense in the Statement of Activities is based on 
projected benefit payments discounted to actuarial present value and attributed 
to periods of employee service. Pension expenditures in the fund financial 
statements are the amounts actually paid. 214,413 

The Statement of Activities reflects the effects of other post-employment benefits, which 
is based on an actuarial amount that is increased over an amortized period and decreased 
for amounts actually paid during the year. The governmental funds reflect only the payments 
made as current year expenditures. This year, the change in OPEB liability was: (321,220) 

The Statement of Activities recognizes compensated absences (vacations and sick leave) 
by amounts earned during the year. In the governmental funds, however, expenditures 
for these items are measured by the amount of financial resources used, essentially the 
amounts actually paid. This year, the change in compensated absences was: (28,648) 

The issuance of long-term debt (bonds, capital leases, etc.) provides current financial 
resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term 
debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither 
transaction, however, has any effect on net position. Also, governmental funds report 
the effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is issued, whereas 
these amounts are deferred and amortized in the Statement of Activities. This amount 
is the net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-term debt and related items. (259,921) 

Other expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current 
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds: 

Prepaid assets $ (3,395) 
Accrued interest on long-term debt (24,463) 
Claims (179,320) (207,178) 

Change in net position of governmental activities. Statement B $ (59,080) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT G 

CITY OF MINDEN, LOLTSIANA 
Statement of Net Position, Proprietary Funds 
September 30, 2015 

ASSETS 
Current assets: 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance 
Due from other governments 

Inventor^' 
Prepaids 

Total current assets 

Noncurrent assets: 
Restricted assets -
Cash and interest-bearing bank deposits 
Investment 

Capital assets (net of accumulated depreciation) 
Total noncurrent assets 

Total assets 

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred outflows on pensions 

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities: 

Accounts payable 
Due to other funds 
Compensated absences 
Total current liabilities 

Current liabilities payable from restricted assets 

Noncurrent liabilities: 
Compensated absences payable 
Net OPEB obligation 
Pension obligation 
Total noncurrent liabilities 

Total liabilities 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Deferred inflows on pensions 

NET POSITION 
Invested in capital assets 
Restricted for meter deposits 
Unrestricted 
Total net position 

Business Type Activities -
Enterprise Funds 

LCDBG-
Sewer 

Utility Improvement 
Fund Fund 

3,131,338 
4,738,609 
3,384.722 

41,403 

988,336 
27.316 

12,311,724 

749.233 
4,317 

19,531,436 
20,284,986 

32,596,710 

966,998 

1,306,483 
5,514 

23,936 
1.335.933 

666,517 

183,340 
1,584,628 
4.007.870 
5.775.838 
7.778,288 

190,868 

19,531,436 
87,033 

5.976.083 
$ 25,594,552 

64 

64 

64 

Total 

3,131,402 
4,738,609 
3,384,722 

41,403 

988,336 
27,316 

12,311.788 

749,233 
4,317 

19,531,436 
20,284,986 

32,596,774 

966,998 

1,306,483 
5,514 

23,936 
1,335,933 

666,517 

183,340 
1,584,628 
4,007,870 

5,775.838 
7,778,288 

190,868 

64 
64 

19,531,436 
87,033 

5,976,147 
$ 25,594,616 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

STATEMENT H 

Business Type Activities -
Enterprise Funds 

LCDBG-
Sewer 

Utility Improvement 
Fund Fund Total 

OPERATING REVENUES 
Charges for services 

Electric $ 17,075,679 $ $ 17,075,679 
Water 2,020,022 - 2,020,022 
Sewerage 882,084 - 882,084 
Penalties/service charges 289,200 - 289,200 
Other revenues 163,526 - 163,526 
Total operating revenues 20,430,511 - 20,430,511 

OPERATING EXPENSES 
Purchase of power 11,217,330 - 11,217,330 
Personnel services 2,664,171 - 2,664,171 
Materials and supplies 269,062 - 269,062 
Insurance claims and expenses 900,804 - 900,804 
Repairs and maintenance 1,294,729 - 1,294,729 
Other services and charges 910,193 - 910,193 
Bad debt expenses 127,443 - 127,443 
Depreciation 1,317,328 - 1,317,328 
Total operating expenses 18,701,060 - 18,701,060 

Operating income 1,729,451 - 1,729,451 

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES) 
Interest income 52,746 - 52,746 
Management fees (7,516) - (7,516) 
Grant revenues 108,008 - 108,008 

Total nonoperating revenues and expenses 153,238 - 153,238 

INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS 1,882,689 - 1,882,689 

Transfers in 807,819 - 807,819 
Transfers out (3,641,720) - (3,641,720) 

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (951,212) - (951,212) 

Net position - beginning 29,852,168 64 29,852,232 
Prior period adjustment (3,306,404) - (3,306,404) 

Net position - beginning, restated 26,545,764 64 26,545,828 

Net position - ending $ 25,594,552 $ 64 $ 25,594,616 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Statements of Cash Flows 
Proprietary Funds 
For the Year Ended September 30,2015 

STATEMENT I 

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Cash received from customers 
Other operating cash receipts 
Cash payments for supplies and services 
Cash payments to employees for service 
Other operating cash payments 
Net cash provided by operating activities 

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities: 
Transfer to/from other funds 
Net increase in meter deposits 
Net cash (used) for noncapital financing activities 

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities: 
Acquisition and construction of capital assets 
Capital grants 
Net cash (used) for capital and related 

financing activities 

Cash flows from investing activities: 
Interest on interest-bearing deposits 
Net cash provided by investing activities 

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 

Business Type Activities -
Enterprise Funds 

LCDBG-
Sewer 

Utility Improvement 
Fund Fund 

19,931,914 
178,965 

(13,689,424) 
(2,622,803) 

(940,073) 
2,858,579 

(2,833,901) 
23,295 

(2,810,606) 

(392,803) 
64,997 

(327,806) 

1,666 
1,666 

(278,167) 

4,158,738 64 

Total 

19,931,914 
178,965 

(13,689,424) 
(2,622,803) 

(940,073) 
2,858,579 

(2,833,901) 
23,295 

(2.810,606) 

(392,803) 
64,997 

(327,806) 

1,666 
1,666 

(278,167) 

4,158,802 

$ 3,880,571 $ 64 $ 3,880,635 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT I 

Business Type Activities -
Enterprise Funds 

LCDBG-
Sewer 

Utility Improvement 
Fund Fund Total 

ReconciUation of operating income to net cash 
provided by operating activities: 

Operating income (loss) $ 1,729,451 $ - S 1,729,451 
Adjustments to reconcile operating income to net cash 
provided by operating activities; 
Depreciation 1,317,328 1,317,328 
Bad debt 127,443 127,443 

Changes in assets and liabilities -
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable (335,865) (335,865) 
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable - other 1,105 1,105 
Decrease (increase) in inventory 3,896 3,896 
Decrease (increase) prepaids 4,426 4,426 
Decrease (increase) deferred outflows (922,617) (922,617) 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (160,842) (160,842) 
Increase (decrease) in interfund payable 10,208 10,208 
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensated absences (6,377) (6,377) 
Increase (decrease) unearned revenues (1,149) (1,149) 
Increase (decrease) deferred inflows (231,956) (231,956) 
Increase (decrease) retirement payable 1,201,686 1,201,686 
Increase (decrease) in net OPEB obligation 121,842 121,842 

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 2,858,579 $ - $ 2,858,579 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position 
September 30, 2015 

STATEMENT J 

ASSETS 

Pension 
Trust 
Funds 

(3/31/15) 

Agency Fund 
Police Bond 

Fund 

Cash 
Receivables: 
A/R - net of allowance 
Insurance company receivable 
Refunds receivable 

$ 296,220 $ 

1,482 

20,874 

3,333 

Total assets 297,702 $ 24,207 

LIABILITIES 

Claims payable 
Claims incuixed but not reported 
Due to the general fund 
Due to other governmental units 

68,580 
286,782 

6,636 
17,571 

Total liabilities 355,362 24,207 

(DEFICIT) OF NET POSITION FOR 
BENEFITS OVER BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (57,660) $ 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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STATEMENT K 

CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 
Pension Trust Funds 
For the Year Ended March 31,2015 

NET INCREASE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 
Increase during the year attributable to: 
Claims payable $ 23,231 
Claims incurred but not reported 65,570 

NET INCREASE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 88,801 

NET (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS 
Additions to plan assets attributable to: 
Sponsor contributions 1,718,946 
Participant contributions 502,084 
Retiree contributions 130,910 
Insurance company reimbursements 142,034 
Interest income 217 
TOTAL ADDITIONS 2,494,191 

Deductions from plan assets attributable to: 
Benefits paid to participants 1,943,710 
Payments for insurance premiums 595,257 
Administrative expenses 79,973 

TOTAL DEDUCTIONS 2,618,940 

NET (DECREASE) IN NET POSITION AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS (124,749) 

(DECREASE) IN EXCESS OF NET POSITION AVAILABLE FOR 
BENEFITS OVER BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS (213,550) 

(DEFICIT) OF NET POSITION AVAILABLE FOR BENEFITS OVER 
BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 

BEGINNING OF YEAR 155,890 

END OF YEAR $ (57,660) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

As of and for the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

A. Reporting Entity 

The City of Minden, Louisiana (the City) was incorporated in 1928, under the provisions of Act No. 226 of the 1928 
Special Acts of Louisiana Legislature. The City is located in the Parish of Webster in the northwest comer of the 
State of Louisiana. Elected officials of the City of Minden are a mayor, five (5) aldermen, and a chief of police, all 
of whom serve four-year terms. The affairs of the City are conducted and managed by the mayor and board of 
aldermen, referred to as "The Council." The City provides a full range of municipal services as authorized by its 
charter. These include public safety (police and fire), street, water, electric, sewerage, sanitation and health, zoning 
and general administrative services. 

The City is considered a primary government, since it is a special purpose govemment that has a separately elected 
governing body, is legally separate and is fiscally independent of other state or local governments. 

Govemmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 14, The Reporting Entity, as amended by GASB 
Statement No. 61, The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus establishes criteria for determining the govemmental 
reporting entity and component units that should be considered part of the City for fmancial reporting purposes. The 
basic criterion for including a potential component unit within the reporting entity is financial accountability. The 
GASB has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial accountability. This criterion includes: 

1. Appointing a voting majority of an organization's governing body, and: 
a. The ability of the City to impose its will on that organization and/or 
b. The potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits to or impose specific financial 

burdens on the City. 
2. Organizations that are fiscally dependent on the City and there is a potential for the organization to provide 

specific financial benefits or to impose specific financial burdens on the City. 
3. Organizations for which the reporting entity financial statements would be misleading if data of the 

organization is not included because of the nature or significance of the relationship. 

Based on the aforementioned criteria, the City has determined that the following component units are part of the 
reporting entity: 

Fiscal Criteria 
Component Unit Year End Used 

City Court of Minden December 31 2 and 3 
Minden Ward Marshal December 31 2 and 3 

The City has chosen not to include the component units listed above in the basic financial statements. Separate 
financial statements for each of these component units can be obtained by contacting the component unit. The 
financial activity of the Minden Historic Downtown Development District Commission is reported within the City's 
general fund. The Commission is not reported as a component unit of the City because they do not have separate 
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corporate powers that would distinguish them as being legally separate from the primary government, primarily due 
to the fact that the Commission does not have the right to buy, sell, lease and mortgage property in its own name. 
Furthermore, it was determined that the City holds the Commission's corporate powers. 

GASB Statement No. 14 provides for the issuance of primary government financial statements that are separate from 
those of the reporting entity, However, the primary government's (City) financial statements are not a substitute for 
the reporting entity's financial statements. The accompanying primary government financial statements have been 
prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles as applied to governmental units except for the 
inclusion of the component units as discussed above. 

Other related organizations 

The Minden Housing Authority - The Authority provides housing to certain qualified residents and is funded by the 
U.S. Government grants and rental charges. The City is not responsible for financing deficits nor entitled to 
surpluses. The City does not significantly influence operational or fiscal matters of the Authority. The Minden 
Housing Authority is fiscally independent and there is no financial benefit or burden relationship with the City. 
Therefore, it is not included in the City's financial statements. 

B. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation 

Government-Wide Financial Statements 
The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) 
display information about the reporting government as a whole. The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of 
Activities was prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are 
the proprietary fond and fiduciary funds financial statements. 

Fiduciary fonds are not included in the government-wide financial statements. Fiduciary funds are reported 
separately in the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position. 

Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported 
separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support. 

Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing 
of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and 
similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been 
met. 

Program revenues Program revenues included in the Statement of Activities include 1) charges to customers or 
applicants who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or 
segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a 
particular function or segment. T axes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported 
instead as general revenues. 
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Allocation of indirect expenses The Statement of Activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of 
a given function or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable 
with a specific function or segment. Depreciation expense is specifically identified by function and is included in the 
direct expense of each function. Interest on long-term debt is considered an indirect expense and is reported 
separately on the Statement of Activities. 

Fund Financial Statements 
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary fiinds, even 
though the latter are excluded from the govemment-wide financial statements. Major individual governmental funds 
and major enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements. 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and 
the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and 
available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon 
enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the government considers revenues to be 
available if they are collected within 30 days of the end of the current fiscal period. Expenditures are recorded when 
a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. Debt service expenditures and expenditures related to 
compensated absences and claims and judgments are recorded only when payment is due. 

Revenues 
• Ad valorem taxes (property) are recorded in the year they are assessed. Property taxes are assessed on a 

calendar-year basis and become due on the date November 15 of each year and become delinquent on 
December 31. The taxes are normally collected in December of the current year and January and February of 
the ensuing year. 

• Sales taxes are recognized when received by the City's collections agent, the Webster Parish Sales & Use Tax 
Commission. 

• Expenditure-driven grants are recognized as revenue when the qualifying expenditures have been incurred and 
all other eligibility requirements have been met, and the amount is received during the period or within the 
availability period for this revenue source (within 30 days of year end.) 

• Interest income on investments is recorded when earned and the income is available. 

• Substantially all other revenue items are recorded when they are considered to be measurable and available to 
the City. 

Expenditures 
Expenditures are generally recognized under the modified accrual basis of accounting when the related fund liability 
is incurred, except for principal and interest on general long-term obligations, which are recognized when due, 
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Other Financing Sources (Uses) 
Sales of fixed assets, increases in capital lease purchases, and transfers between funds that are not expected to be 
repaid are accounted for as other financing sources (uses) and are recognized when the underlying events occur. 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues and 
expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a 
proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the proprietary funds are from 
charges for electrical, water and sewerage services. Operating expenses for enterprise funds and internal service 
funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All 
revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses. 

C. Funds 

The accounts of the City are organized and operated on the basis of funds. Fund accounting is designed to 
demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial management by segregating transactions related to certain 
government functions or activities. 

The governmental funds are divided into separate "fund types." Governmental funds are used to account for 
government's general activities, where the focus of attention is on the providing of services to the public as opposed 
to proprietary funds where the focus of attention is on recovering the cost of providing services to the public or other 
agencies through service charges or user fees, 

The municipality reports the following major governmental fiinds; 

The General Fund is the municipality's primary operating fund. It accounts for all financial resources of the general 
government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

The Sales Tax Fund accounts for the receipt and use of the municipality's one percent (1%) sales and use tax under 
the provisions of the sales and use tax ordinance effective August I, 1967. 

The Sales Tax Fund - Sewerage System Fund accounts for the receipt and use of the municipality's one percent 
(1%) sales and use tax under the provisions of the sales and use tax ordinance effective December 1, 1984. By 
special election held April 15, 2000, the City rededicated and renewed the levy of this one percent (1%) sales and 
use tax. 

The municipality reports the following major proprietary funds: 

The Utility Fund is used to account for electric, water and sewer service operations that are financed and operated in 
a manner similar to private business enterprise. The intent of the governing body is that the costs (expenses, 
including depreciation) of providing goods or services to the general public on a continuing basis be financed or 
recovered primarily through user charges, or where the governing body has decided the periodic determination of 
revenues earned, expenses incurred, or net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, 
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management control, accountability, or other purposes. 

The LCDBG - Sewer Improvement Fund is used to account for Louisiana Community Development Block Grant 
proceeds to be used for sewer improvements. 

Additionally, the government reports the following fund types; 

Agency Fund is used to account for assets held by the City as an agent for individuals, private organizations, other 
governments, and/or other funds. Agency Funds are custodial in nature (assets equal liabilities) and do not involve 
measurement of results of operations. 

Pension (and other employee benefit) Trust Fund is used to report resources and activities when the City is acting as 
a trustee for individuals. The Pension Trust Fund is used to account for medical, dental, vision, life and accidental 
death benefits covering substantially all employees. 

D. Deposits and Investments 

Cash includes amounts in demand deposits, interest-bearing demand deposits, and money market accounts. Cash 
equivalents include amounts in time deposits, those investments with original maturities of 90 days or less. Under 
state law, the City may deposit funds in demand deposits, money market accounts, or time deposits with state banks 
organized under Louisiana law and national banks having their principal offices in Louisiana. 

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash, demand deposits, and 
certificates of deposit with an original maturity of less than 90 days. Cash and cash equivalents are stated at cost. 

Louisiana Revised Statutes and the City's investment policy govern the types of allowable securities to be purchased 
by the municipality. The City of Minden is authorized to invest in the following types of investments: 

1) Direct U.S. Treasury obligations, the principal and interest of which are fully guaranteed by the U.S. 
government. 

2) Bonds, debentures, notes or other evidence of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by federal agencies and 
provided such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. 

3) Bonds, debentures, notes or other evidence of indebtedness issued or guaranteed by U.S. government 
instrumentalities, which are federally sponsored 

4) Collateralized mortgage obligations, which have not been stripped into interest only or principal only 
obligations 

5) Time certificates of deposit of state banks organized under the laws of Louisiana, or national banks having their 
principal offices in the state of Louisiana 

These are classified as investments if their original maturities exceed 90 days; however, if the original maturities are 
90 days or less, they are classified as cash equivalents. Investments are reported at fair value, which is determined 
using selected bases. Short-term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Long-term 
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investments, those with original maturities greater than one (!) year, are valued at the last reported sales price at 
current exchange rates. 

£. Receivables and Payables 

In the govemment-wide statements, receivables consist of all revenues earned at year-end and not yet received. 
Allowances for uncollectible receivables are based upon historical trends and the periodic aging of accounts 
receivable. Major receivable balances for the governmental activities include sales and use taxes, ad valorem taxes, 
franchise taxes, police fines, and grants. Business-type activities report utilities as their major receivable. An 
allowance for uncollectible receivables is maintained, however, if amounts become uncollectible, in the opinion of 
management, they are charged to operations at that time. 

In the fund financial statements, material receivables in governmental funds include revenue accruals such as sales 
tax, franchise tax, grants and other intergovernmental revenues since they are usually both measurable and available. 
Nonexchange transactions collectible but not available are deferred in the fund financial statements in accordance 
with modified accrual, but not deferred in the government-wide financial statements in accordance with the accrual 
basis. Interest and investment eamings are recorded when earned and only if paid within 30 days, since they would 
be considered both measurable and available. 

F. Elimination and Reclassification 

Transactions between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at the end of the 
fiscal year are referred to as either "due to/from other funds." While theses balances are reported in fund financial 
statements, certain eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-wide financial statements. Balances 
between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included in the 
governmental activities column. Similarly, balances between the funds included n business-type activities are 
eliminated so that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the business-type activities column. 

Certain activity occurs during the year involving transfers of resources between funds. In fund financial statements 
these amounts are reported as gross amounts as transfers in/out. While reported in fund financial statements, certain 
eliminations are made in the preparation of the government-wide financial statements. Transfers between the funds 
included in governmental activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as transfers in the 
governmental activities column. Similarly, balances between the funds included in business-type activities are 
eliminated so that only the net amount is included as internal balances in the business-type activities column. 
Exceptions to this general rule are payments in lieu of taxes where the amounts are reasonably equivalent in value to 
the interfund services provided and other charges between the City's utility fund and various other functions of the 
City. Elimination of these charges would distort the direct costs and program revenues reported for the various 
functions concerned. 

G. Inventories and Prepaid Items 

Inventory items are valued using the weighted average method. Inventories of the governmental funds are recorded 

33 



CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Notes to the Financiai Statements 

As of and for the Year Ended September 30,2015 

as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased. Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable 
to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in govemment-wide financial statements. 

Inventories in each fund are generally composed of the following items: 

General Fund - Gasoline 
Enterprise Fund - Electric, water and sewer repair and maintenance items 

H. Restricted Assets 

Restricted assets include cash and investments of the Utility Fund that are legally restricted as to their use. The 
primary restricted assets are related to utility meter deposits. 

I. Capital Assets 

Capital assets, which include property, plant, equipment, and infrastructure assets (e.g. roads, bridges, sidewalks, 
and similar items) are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in the 
govemment-wide financial statements. Capital assets are capitalized at historical cost or estimated cost if historical 
cost is not available. Donated assets are recorded as capital assets at their estimated fair market value at the date of 
donation. The municipality maintains a threshold level of $5,000 or more for capitalizing capital assets. 

The costs of normid maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend asset lives 
are not capitalized. 

Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. All capital assets, 
other than land, are depreciated using the straight-line method over the following useful lives: 

Estimated 
Description Lives 

Roads, bridges, and infi-astmcture 25-50 years 
Land improvements 10-30 years 
Buildings and building improvements 10-40 years 
Furniture and fixtures 5-15 years 
Vehicles 5-10 years 
Equipment 5-15 years 

Infrastmcture assets include roads, bridges, underground pipe (other than related to utilities), traffic signals, etc. 
These infrastructure assets are likely to be the largest asset class of the City. Infrastructure being reported on 
includes bridges owned by the City during the current year. Of the remaining infrastmcture, neither the historical 
cost nor related depreciation has historically been reported in the financial statements. The City has elected to report 
its system of streets under the modified approach. 
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J. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources 

In addition to assets, the financial statements will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of 
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred outflows of resources, represents a consumption of 
net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an outflow of resources 
(expense/expenditure) until then. The City has two items that qualify for reporting in this category. 

The Statement of Net Position reports the deferred charges on refunding as a deferred outflow of resources. A 
deferred charge on refunding results from the difference in the carrying value or refunded debt and its reacquisition 
price This amount is deferred and amortized over the short of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 

The Statement of Net Position also reports the City's proportionate share of the deferred outflows of resources 
related to pensions. See Note 10 for more information. 

In addition to liabilities, the financial statements will sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of 
resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net 
position that applies to future period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenues) until that 
time. The City has two types of items that qualify for reporting in this category. 

The Statement of Net Position reports the City's proportionate share of the deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions. See Note 10 for more information. 

The governmental funds balance sheet reports unavailable revenues, from amounts which are defened and will be 
recognized as an inflow of resources in the period in which the amounts become available. 

K. Compensated Absences 

The City's policy regarding vacation time permits full-time employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation 
leave. The only provision for vested benefits is that municipal employees, with the exception of employees of the 
police and fire department who are covered by Civil Service requirements, may carry forward no more than the 
maximum accruable amount for any vacation year. All employees do not have the option of foregoing vacation and 
being paid in lieu thereof. The entire accrued vacation liability is reported on the government-wide financial 
statements. For governmental fund financial statements, the current portion of this debt is the amount that is 
normally expected to be paid using expendable available financial resources. A liability for these amounts is 
reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of employee resignations and 
retirements. 

The City's policy regarding sick time permits full-time employees to accrue sick leave at the rate of eighty (80) 
hours per year, effective on the first day of full-time employment. Sick time may be carried over from year to year. 
Upon retirement, the employee will be reimbursed for fifty (50) percent of their accrued sick leave at their regular 
hourly rate of pay. Total reimbursement cannot exceed 500 hours. All sick leave hours used in the two years prior 
to retirement date will be deducted from the fifty (50) percent accmal prior to reimbursement. There is no provision 
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for reimbursement of accrued sick leave for termination other than retirement. The liability for sick leave accrual is 
recorded as long-term debt in the government-wide financial statements. 

L. Long-Term Obligations 

In the government-wide financial statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as 
liabilities in the Statement of Net Position. Long-term debt consists primarily of bonds payable, capital lease 
obligations, compensated absences, claims payable, pension obligations and net OPEB obligations. Bonds payable 
are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance cost, except any portion related to 
prepaid insurance costs are expensed in the period incurred. 

Long-term debt in governmental funds is not reported as liability in the fund financial statements. The debt 
proceeds are reported as other financing sources, and payment of principal and interest reported as expenditures. 

M. Restricted Net Position 

For the government-wide Statement of Net Position, net position is reported as restricted if either of the following 
conditions exists: 

• Restrictions are externally imposed by creditors (such as debt convents), grantors, contributors, or laws or 
regulations of other governments; 

• Restrictions are imposed by law through constitutional provision or enabling legislation. 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the government's policy to use restricted 
resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

N. Fund Equity of Fund Financial Statements 

The following classifications describe the relative strength of the spending constraints placed on the purposes for 
which the resources can be used. In the fund financial statements, fund balances are classified as follows: 

a. Nonspendable fund balance - amounts that are not in a spendable form or legally or contractually required to be 
maintained intact. This category includes items that are not easily converted to cash such as inventories. 

b. Restricted fund balance - amounts constrained to specific purposes by their providers (such as grantors, 
bondholders, and higher levels of government), through constitutional provisions, or by enabling legislation. 

c. Committed fund balance - amounts constrained to specific purposes determined by the City itself, using its 
highest level of decision-making authority, to be reported as committed, amounts carmot be used for any other 
purpose unless the City takes the same highest level action to remove or change the constraint. The City 
Council establishes (and modified or rescinds) fund balance commitments by passage of an ordinance or 
resolution. 
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d. Assigned fund balance - amounts that the City intends to use for a specific purpose, intent can be expressed by 
the governing body or by an official or body to which the governing body delegates the authority. The City's 
policy does not address assignment of fiind balance. Assigned fund balance is established by City Council 
through adoption or amendment of the budget as intended for specific purpose. 

e. Unassigned fund balance - amounts that are available for any purpose, positive amounts are reported only in the 
General Fund. The City has not adopted a policy to maintain the General Fund's unassigned fund balance above 
a certain minimum level. 

The City reduces committed amounts, followed by assigned amounts, and then unassigned amounts when an 
expenditure is incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of those unrestricted fiind balance classifications 
could be used. The City considers restricted amounts to have been spent when an expenditure has incurred for 
purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is available. 

O. Extraordinary and Special Items 

Extraordinary items are transactions or events that are both unusual in nature and infrequent in occurrence. Special 
items are transactions or events within the control of the municipality, which are either unusual in nature or 
infrequent in occurrence. 

P. Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the 
reported amounts of revenues, expenditures, and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates. 

2 STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY 

BUDGET INFORMATION ThQ City follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in these 
financial statements; 

a) The City Clerk prepares a proposed budget and submits same to the Mayor and the Council no later than fifteen 
days prior to the beginning of each fiscal year. 

b) The public is notified that the proposed budget is available for public inspection. At that time, a public hearing 
is called. 

c) A public hearing is held on the proposed budget at least ten days after publication of the call for the hearing. 
d) After the holding of the public hearing and completion of all action necessary to finalize and implement the 

budget, the budget is adopted through passage of an ordinance prior to the commencement of the fiscal year for 
which the budget is being adopted. 
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e) Budgetary amendments involving the transfer of funds from one department, program or function to another or 
involving increases or decreases in expenditures resulting from revenues exceeding or failing to meet amounts 
estimated require the approval of the Council. 

f) All budgetary appropriations lapse at the end of each fiscal year. 
g) Budgets for the General and Special Revenue Funds are adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted 

accounting principles (GAAP). Budgeted amounts, as originally adopted, are amended from time to time by the 
Council. 

Excess of expenditures over appropriations in individual funds 

The following individual funds had actual expenditures over budgeted expenditures for the year ended September 
30, 2015: 

Fund Budget Actual Variance 
GeneralFund $ 11,161,538 $11,694,705 $(533,167) 

DEFICITS The Fiduciary Fund - Pension Trust Fund had a deficit of $57,660, in retained earnings as of March 31, 
2015. The deficit was due to the excess of expenditures recognized for claims incurred as of the end of the year over 
actual funds transferred to the Pension Trust Fund. The deficit will be eliminated through future transfers from 
various funds. 

3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

At September 30, 2015, the carrying amount of the City's deposits, excluding its fiduciary fund was $8,277,324. 

These deposits are stated at cost, which approximates market. Under state law, these deposits (or the resulting bank 
balances) must be secured by federal deposit insurance or the pledge of securities owned by the fiscal agent bank. 
The market value of the pledged securities plus the federal deposit insurance must at all times at least equal the 
amount on deposit with the fiscal agent. These securities are held in the name of the pledging fiscal agent bank in a 
holding or custodial bank that is mutually acceptable to both parties. 

At September 30, 2015, the City's bank balances, including its fiduciary funds and certificates of deposits, totaled 
$12,565,696. These deposits are secured from risk by $1,521,324 of federal deposit insurance and $15,013,126 of 
pledged securities held by the custodial bank in the name of the fiscal agent bank (GASB Category 3). 

Even though the pledged securities are considered uncollateralized (Category 3) under the provisions of GASB 
Statement No. 3, Louisiana Revised Statute 39:1229 imposes a statutory requirement on the custodial bank to 
advertise and sell the pledged securities within ten days of being notified by the City that the fiscal agent has failed 
to pay deposited funds upon demand. 
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4. INVESTMENTS 

As of September 30, 2015, the City's reporting entity had the following investments; 

Total 
Fair Value/ 

Weighted 
Average 

Credit Carrying Governmental Business-Type Months 
Tvoes of investments % ratine Amount Activities Activities to Maturity 
Money market funds - LAMP 22 AAAm $ 1,648,114 $ 225,059 $ 1,423,055 
UBS Cash Fund, Inc. 0 a 3,081 - 3,081 
U.S. Government Sponsored Enterprises: 
Federal National Mortgage Association 11 Aaa 831,473 - 831,473 35.35 
Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corp. 7 Aaa 550,816 - 550,816 35.57 
Federal Farm Credit Bank 10 Aaa 800,415 100,005 700,410 31.27 

Louisiana Bonds 4 AA-/AA 337,025 - 337,025 31.52 
U.S. Agency Collateralized 

Mortgage Obligations 0 a 1,236 - 1,236 a 
Certificates of deposit 46 3.480.772 2.584.942 895.830 

Total investments HIQ $ 1652.9,32 S 2.910.006 S 4 742 926 

a No specific maturity date available due to the nature of this type of investment. The City plans to hold remaining 
security until maturity. No rating provided on this investment. 

The City participates in the Louisiana Asset Management Pool, Inc. (LAMP) which is an external investment pool that is not 
SEC-registered. Because the LAMP is an arrangement sponsored by a type of governmental entity, it is exempt by statute from 
regulation by the SEC. 

LAMP is administered by LAMP, Inc., a non-profit corporation organized under the laws of the State of Louisiana. Only local 
government entities having contracted to participate in LAMP have an investment interest in its pool of assets. The primary 
objective of LAMP is to provide a safe environment for the placement of public funds in shon-tenn, high quality investments. 
The LAMP portfolio includes only securities and other obligations in which local governments in Louisiana are authorized to 
invest in accordance with LA- R.S. 33:2955. 

GASH Statement No. 40 Deposit and Investment Risk Disclosure, requires disclosure of credit risk, custodial credit risk, and 
concentration of credit risk, interest rate risk, and foreign currency risk for all public entity investments. 

LAMP is a 2a7-like investment pool. The following facts are relevant for 2a7 like investment pools: 

• Credit risk: LAMP is rated AAAm by Standard & Poor's. 
• Custodial credit risk: LAMP participants' investments in the pool are evidenced by shares of the pool. Investments in 

pools should be disclosed, but not categorized because they are not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or 
book-entry form. The public entity's investment is with the pool, not the securities that make up the pool; therefore, no 
disclosure is required. 

• Concentration of credit risk: Pooled investments are excluded from the 5 percent disclosure requirement. 
• Interest rate risk: LAMP is designed to be highly liquid to give its participants immediate access to their account 

balances, LAMP prepares its own interest rate risk disclosure using the weighted average maturity (WAM) method. 
The WAM of LAMP is restricted to not more than 60 days, and consists of no securities with a maturity in excess of 
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397 days. The WAM for LAMP'S total investments is 45 as of September 30, 2015. 
• Foreign currency risk: Not applicable to 2a7-like pools. 

Tbe investments in LAMP are stated at fair value based on quoted market rates. The fair value is determined on a weekly basis 
by LAMP and the value of the position in the external investment pool is the same as the net asset value of the pool shares. 

LAMP, Inc. is subject to the regulatory oversight of the state treasurer and the board of directors. LAMP is not registered with 
SEC as an investment company. 

LAMP issues financial reports. These financial reports can be obtained by writing LAMP, Inc. 228 St. Charles Avenue, Suite 
1123, New Orleans, LA 70130. 

City's Investment policies 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not hilfiU its obligations. The City's 
policy does not address credit rate risk. 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. 
Investments held for longer periods are subject to increased risk of adverse interest rate changes. The City's policy 
does not address interest rate risk. For information regarding the interest rate risk on LAMP investments, see above. 

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the City's investment in a single 
issuer. The City's policy does not address concentration of credit risk. 

For investments, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the City will not 
be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities in the possession of an outside party. City 
investments are Category 1 investments, categorized as insured or registered, or securities held by the City or its 
agent in the City's name. 

5. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Enterprise Receivables and Uncollectible Accounts 

The individual customer consumption meters are not all read on the same day of the month. Meters are generally 
read between the first (1) and the twenty-first (21) day of each month. At the end of any particular month, 
individual customers will have from a week to a total month's consumption that they will not be billed for until the 
following month. It is estimated that at the end of any particular month there is, in the aggregate, approximately the 
equivalent of twenty (20) days' consumption that is unbilled to utility customers. 
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Accounts receivable - utilities customers at September 30, 2015, consisted of: 

Accounts receivable - utilities $ 2,795,641 
Allowance for D/A (445.504) 

2,350,137 
Unbilled receivables 1,019.382 
Accounts receivable - utilities (net) $ 3.369.519 

The City had $15,203 in non-customer receivables for business type activities at September 30, 2015. 

Receivables detail at September 30, 2015 for governmental activities are as follows: 

Sales Sales Tax- Nonmajor 
General Tax Sewerage Governmental Total 

Class of receivables: 
Taxes: 

Ad Valorem $ 27,176 $ - $ - $ - $ 27,176 
Sales Tax - 251,094 251,095 - 502,189 
Franchise tax 47,341 - - - 47,341 

Fines/tickets 128,072 - - - 128,072 
Interest _ - _ 2,069 2,069 
Other 60.763 : : 1.859 62.622 
Gross receivables 263,352 251,094 251,095 3,928 769,469 
Less: Allowance for 

uncoUectibles (109.6511 : ^ : (109.6511 
Receivables - net $ 153.701 $ 251.094 $251.095 $ 3.928 $659.818 

At September 30, 2015, the City reported $68,169 in due from other governments. 

6. ADVALOREM TAXES 

The City levies taxes on real and business personal property located within the City's boundaries. Property taxes are 
levied by the City on property values assessed by the Webster Parish Tax Assessor and approved by the State of 
Louisiana Tax Commission. The Webster Parish Sheriffs office bills and collects property taxes for the City. 
Collections are remitted to the City monthly. 
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Property Tax Calendar 
Millage rates adopted/levied October 15 
Tax bills mailed October 15, 2014 
Due date DecemberBl, 2014 
Collection dates December 31, 2014 through April 2015 
Penalty and interest accrues January 1, 2015 
Tax sale-2014 property May 15, 2015 

The City considers the lien date (January 1, 2015) as the date an enforceable legal claim occurs for the 2014 
property taxes. Property tax revenue is recognized in the period for which the taxes are levied (budgeted). 

Any property with outstanding taxes owed is subject to annual public sale. Any property not purchased by 
individuals through the public sale, is then adjudicated to the City. The delinquent property owner has three years 
from the date of the tax purchase to redeem the property by paying all of the outstanding property taxes to date, 
penalties and interest. Estimated uncollectible taxes are those taxes based on past experience which will not be 
collected in the subsequent year. The City has recognized approximately $27,176 for outstanding taxes and other 
costs for delinquent property taxes, of which $21,258 is estimated to be uncollectible. 

The tax levy for 2014 was 7.61 mills of the assessed property valuation on tax rolls as of January 1. This tax became 
due on January 1, 2015 and delinquent on February 1, 2015. 

The tax was dedicated as follows: 

General corporate purposes 5.70 mills 
Downtown historic district 1.91 mills 

For the year ended September 30, 2015, taxes of $418,441 were levied on property with assessed valuations totaling 
$73,410,640. 

Additionally, a tax of 1.91 mills on properties located within the established Minden Downtown Development 
District was approved by voters on October 22, 2011. For the year ended September 30, 2015, taxes of $16,314 
were levied on property with assessed valuations totaling $8,541,390. 

7. SALES AND USE TAX OPERATIONS 

A. 1% sales and use tax - The City of Minden was authorized to levy and collect a one per cent (1%) sales and use 
tax by a special election held May 23, 1967. 

The revenues derived therefrom were authorized to be used for "the purpose of opening, constructing, paving, 
resurfacing, improving and/or maintaining streets, alleys, sidewalks and bridges; constructing, acquiring, extending, 
improving, renovating and/or maintaining street lighting facilities, water-works, sewers and sewerage disposal 
works, garbage collection and waste disposal facilities, police department stations and equipment, public buildings 
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and/or fire department stations and equipment, including fire engines, public parks and recreational facilities, airport 
facilities, and parking facilities; and purchasing and acquiring the necessary land, equipment and furnishings for the 
aforesaid public works, building, improvements and facilities, and such tax to be subject to funding into bonds by 
the City in the manner authorized." 

For the year ended September 30, 2015, Sales Tax operating transfers (of "surplus") to other funds which were used 
for purposes for which the imposition of the tax was authorized were as follows: 

General 
Fund 

Transfers to $ 2.782.200 

B. 1% sales and use tax - sewerage improvements - The City of Minden was authorized to levy and collect a one 
per cent (1%) sales and use tax by a special election held September 29, 1984. 

The revenues derived therefrom were authorized to be used for "the purpose of constructing, acquiring, 
extending, improving, operating and maintaining sewers and sewerage disposal facilities and fund the proceeds 
of the Tax into bonds to be issued in series from time to time for the purpose of constructing, acquiring and 
improving sewers and sewage disposal facilities and the Council shall (i) annually budget the amount of said net 
proceeds of the Tax required to pay principal and interest and reserve requirements on all bonds payable from 
the Tax and the amount required for extending, improving, operating and maintaining sewers and sewage 
disposal facilities and (ii) use the excess over said requirements to pay said bonds in full prior to their stated 
maturity and when provisions shall have been made for the payment of all of said bonds in full the authority to 
levy the Tax shall terminate." 

By a special election held April 15, 2000, the City rededicated and renewed the levy of a one percent (1%) sales 
and use tax, which was originally authorized at an election held in the City on September 29, 1984. 

The revenues derived therefrom were rededicated to be used for "the purpose of acquiring, constructing, 
improving, maintaining, equipping and operating sewerage, sewage disposal facilities and recreational facilities, 
including the acquisition of sites therefore, and authority to fund the sales tax into bonds by the City in the 
manner authorized." 

For the year ended September 30, 2015, Sales tax-sewerage improvements operating transfers to other funds which 
were used for purposes for which the imposition of the tax was authorized were as follows: 

Debt General Utility 
Service Fund Fund 

Transfers to $ 353.025 S 1.318.569 $ 807.819 

Beginning July 1992, the City entered into an agreement with the Webster Parish Sales & Use Tax Commission to 
collect sales tax. The Agency collects the taxes from vendors, and then remits to the City, after deducting an 
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administrative fee. The administrative fee of 1.4% was assessed during the year. 

8. RESTRICTED ASSETS 

Restricted assets of the City of Minden at September 30, 2015 were as follows: 

Customers' Deposits 
Bank deposit accounts $ 749,233 
Investments (net of market adjustment) 4.317 

Total restricted assets $ 753.550 
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9. CAPITAL ASSETS 

Capital assets and depreciation activity as of and for the year ended September 30, 2015, for the primary 
government is as follows: 

Balance Balance 
Governmental activities: October 1.2014 Additions Deletions September 30.2015 
Capital assets, not being depreciated 

Land 
Construction in progiess 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 

1,906,300 
1.073.168 
2,979,468 

36,429 
.257.967 
,294,396 

S 
1.176.005 
1.176.005 

$ 1,942,729 
155.130 

2.097.859 

Capital assets being depreciated 
Buildings 
Land improvements other than buildings 
Equipment 
Infrastructure 

Total capital assets being depreciated 

15,708,108 
7,130,572 
6,621,466 
5.337.362 

34.797.508 

1,176,005 

27,802 
650.193 

1.854.000 

156,806 

156,806 

16,884,113 
7,130,572 
7,142,655 
5.337.362 

36,494.702 

Less accumulated depreciation for: 
Buildings 
Land improvements other than buildings 
Equipment 
Infiastructure 

Total accumulated depreciation 
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 

5,376,397 
1.233,005 
5,504,766 
2.781.779 

14.895.947 
19,901,561 

380,068 
276,172 
421,709 
127.812 

1.205.761 
648.239 

156,806 

156.806 

5,756,465 
1,509,177 
5,769,669 
2.909.591 

15.944.902 
20,549,800 

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 22.881.029 $-242,635 $ 1.176.005 S 22.647.659 

Business-type activities: 
Capital assets, not being depreciated 

Land and improvements 
Construction in progress 

Total capital assets, not being depreciated 

Capital assets being depreciated 
Buildings 
Land improvements other than buildings 
Equipment 

Total capital assets being depreciated 
Less accumulated depreciation for; 

Buildings 
Land improvements otlier than buildings 
Equipment 

Total accumulated depreciation 
Total capital assets, being depreciated, net 

Business-type capital assets, net 

Balance 
October 1. 2014 

$ 332,065 
46.870 

378.935 

17,281.667 
31,001,804 
8.652.850 

56.936.321 

11,834.371 
17,980,263 
7.043.476 

36.858.110 
20,078,211 

$ 20.457,146 

Additions 

359.051 
359.051 

393,332 
5.137 

398.469 

372.221 
737,817 
207.290 

1.317.328 
(918.8591 

S(559.8081 

Deletions 

365.902 
365.902 

$ 365.902 

Balance 
September 30. 2015 

S 332,065 
40.019 

372,084 

17,281,667 
31,395,136 
8.657.987 

57.334.790 

12,206,592 
18,718,080 
7.250.766 

38.175.438 
19.159.352 

$ 19..531.4.36 
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Depreciation expense was charged as direct expense of the primary government as follows; 

Governmental activities: Business-type activities: 
General government $ 236,877 Water $ 317,336 
Public safety 169,371 Sewer 477,253 
Highway and streets 180,593 Electric 491,630 
Parks and recreation 366,817 Other 31.109 
Public works 252.103 Total $ 1,317,328 
Total S 1.205.761 

10. PENSION PLANS 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of resources 
related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Municipal Employees' 
Retirement System of Louisiana (MERS), the Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana 
(MFERS), the Firefighters' Retirement System of Louisiana (FRS), and the Louisiana State Employees' Retirement 
System (LASERS) (collectively, the Systems), and additions to/deductions from the Systems' fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the Systems. For this purpose, benefits payments 
(including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit 
terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

A. Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana (MERS) 

Plan Description: Employees of the City are provided with pensions through a cost-sharing multiple-employer 
defmed benefit plan established in accordance with the provision of Louisiana Revised Statutes (La. R.S. 11:1731) 
to provide retirement benefits to employees of all incorporated villages, towns and cities within the State of 
Louisiana. The Municipal Employees Retirement System of Louisiana is the administrator of this plan. MERS is 
comprised of two distinct plans. Plan A and Plan B, with separate assets and benefit provisions. Employees of the 
City are members of Plan A. MERS issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at 
www.mersla.com. 

Benefits Provided; The following is a description of the plan and its benefits and is provided for general 
information purposes only. Participants should refer to the appropriate statutes for more complete information. 

Eligibility Requirements: Membership is mandatory as a condition of employment beginning on the date employed 
if the employee is on a permanent basis working at least thirty-five hours per week. Those individuals paid jointly 
by a participating employer and the parish are not eligible for membership in the System with exceptions as outlined 
in the statutes. 

Retirement: Any member of Plan A, who was hired before January 1, 2013 can retire providing the member meets 
one of the following criteria: 
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a. Any age with twenty-five (25) or more years of creditable service. 
b. Age 60 with a minimum of ten (10) years of creditable service. 
c. Any age with five (5) years of creditable service eligible for disability benefits. 
d. Survivor's benefits require five (5) years creditable service at death of a member. 
e. Any age witli 20 years of creditable service, exclusive of military service with an actuarially reduced early 

benefit. 

Eligibility for retirement for Plan A members hired on or after January 1, 2013 is as follows: 

a. Age 67 with seven (7) or more years of creditable service. 
b. Age 62 with ten (10) or more years of creditable service. 
c. Age 55 with thirty (30) or more years of creditable service. 
d. Any age with twenty-five (25) years of creditable service, exclusive of military service and unused sick leave. 

However, any member retiring under this subsection shall have their benefit actuarially reduced from the 
earliest age of which the member would be entitled to a vested deferred benefit under any provision of this 
section, if the member had continued in service to that age. 

Generally, the monthly amount of the retirement allowance for any member Plan A shall consist of an amount equal 
to three percent of the member's monthly average final compensation multiplied by his years of creditable service. 
However, under certain conditions as outlined in the statutes, the benefits are limited to specified amounts. 
Survivor Benefits: Upon death of any member of Plan A with five (5) or more years of creditable service, not 
eligible for retirement, the plan provides for benefits for the surviving spouse and/or minor children as outlined in 
the statutes. 

Any member of Plan A, who is eligible for normal retirement at time of death and who leaves a surviving spouse, 
will be deemed to have retired and selected Option 2 benefits on behalf of the surviving spouse on the date of death. 
Such benefits will begin only upon proper application and are paid in lieu of any other survivor benefits. 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan (DROP) Benefits: In lieu of terminating employment and accepting a service 
retirement allowance, any member of Plan A who is eligible to retire may elect to participate in the deferred 
retirement option plan (DROP) for up to three years and defer the receipt of benefits. During participation in the 
plan, employer contributions are payable but employee contributions cease. The monthly retirement benefits that 
would be payable, had the person elected to cease employment and receive a service retirement allowance, are paid 
into the DROP Fund. Interest is earned when the member has completed DROP participation. Interest earnings are 
based upon the actual rate of return on the investments identified as DROP funds for the period. In addition, no cost-
of-living increases are payable to participants until employment which made them eligible to become members of 
the System has been terminated for at least one full year. 

Upon termination of employment prior to or at the end of the specified period of participation, a participant in the 
DROP may receive, at his option, a lump sum from the account equal to the payments into the account, a true 
annuity based upon his account balance in that fund, or any other method of payment if approved by the board of 
trustees. If a participant dies during participation in the DROP, a lump sum equal to the balance in his account shall 
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be paid to his named beneficiary or, if none, to his estate. If employment is not terminated at the end of the three 
years, payments into the DROP fund cease and the person resumes active contributing membership in the System. 

Disability Benefits: For Plan A, a member shall be eligible to retire and receive a disability benefit if he has at least 
five years of creditable service, is not eligible for normal retirement and has been officially certified as disabled by 
the State Medical Disability Board. Upon retirement caused by disability, a member of Plan A shall be paid a 
disability benefit equal to the lesser of forty-five percent of his final average compensation or three percent of his 
final average compensation multiplied by his years of creditable service whichever is greater or an amount equal to 
three percent of the member's final average compensation multiplied by his years of creditable service projected to 
his earliest normal retirement age. 

Cost of Living Increases: The System is authorized under state law to grant a cost of living increase to members 
who have been retired for at least one year. The adjustment cannot exceed 2% of the retiree's original benefit for 
each full calendar year since retirement and may only be granted if sufficient funds are available from investment 
income in excess of normal requirement. State law allows the System to grant an additional cost of living increase 
to all retirees and beneficiaries who are age sixty-five and above equal to 2% of the benefit being received on 
October 1, 1977, or the original benefit, if retirement commenced after that date. 

Deferred Benefits: Plan A provides for deferred benefits for members who terminate before being eligible for 
retirement. Once the member reaches the appropriate age for retirement, benefits become payable. Benefits are 
based on statutes in effect at time of withdrawal. 

Contributions: Contribution requirements of active employees are governed by Louisiana Revised Statutes (La. 
R.S. 11:1731) and may be amended by the Louisiana Legislature. Employee and employer contributions are 
deducted from a member's salary and remitted to MERS by participating employers. According to state statute, 
contribution requirements for all employers are actuarially determined each year. For the year ending September 30, 
2015, the actual employer contribution rate was 19.75% of annual payroll for Plan A, actuarially determined as an 
amount that, when combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by 
employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded actuarial accrued liability. 

In accordance with state statute, the System receives ad valorem taxes and state revenue sharing funds. These 
additional sources of income are used as employer contributions and are considered support from non-employer 
contributing entities, but are not considered special funding situations. Non-employer contributions were recognized 
as revenue during the year ended September 30, 2015 and excluded from pension expense. Contributions to the 
pension plan from the City were $709,988 for the year ended September 30, 2015. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions: 

At September 30, 2015, the City reported a liability of $7,562,018 for its proportionate share of the net pension 
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2015 and the total pension liability used to calculate 
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City's proportion of the net 
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pension liability was based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative 
to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2015, the City's 
proportion was 2.1 16933% which was an increase of 0.021673% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2014. 

For the year ended September 30, 2015, the City recognized pension expense of $924,576. 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows 
Govemmental Business Total Governmental Business Total 

Differences between expected 
and actual experience $ - $ - $ - $146,953 $165,714 $312,667 

Net difference between projected 
and actual earnings on pension plan 
investments 451,491 509,129 960,620 

Change of assumptions 296,901 334,804 631,705 

Change in proportion and differences 
between employer contributions and 
proportionate share of contributions 19,678 22,191 41,869 22,307 25,154 47,461 

Employer contributions subsequent 
to the measurement date 89.456 100.874 190.330 : ; -

Total $ 857.526 $ 966.998 $ 1.824.524 $ 169.260 $ 190.868 $360.128 

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions of $190,330 resulting from the City's contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended September 30, 
2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ended 
09/30/2016 $314,900 
09/30/2017 415,847 
09/30/2018 208,651 
09/30/2019 334,668 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability as of June 30, 
2015 are as follows: 

Valuation Date June 30, 2015 
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal 
Investment Rate of Return 7.5%, net of investment expense 
Projected Salary Increase 5.0% (2.875% Inflation, 2.125% Merit) 
Inflation Rate 3% per annum 
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Expected Remaining Service Lives 
Mortality Rates 

3 years 
RP-2000 Employee Table for active members (set back 2 years for 
males and females) 

RP-2000 Disabled Lives Mortality Tables for healthy annuitants 
(set forward 2 years for males and 1 year for females) 

Cost of Living Adjustments The present value of fiiture retirement benefits is based on benefits 
currently being paid by the System and includes previously granted 
cost of living raises. The present values doe no include provisions 
for potential future increases not yet authorized by the Board of 
Trustees. 

The mortality rate assumption used was verified by combining data from this plan with three other statewide plans 
which have similar workforce composition in order to produce a credible experience. The aggregated data was 
collected over the period July 1, 2009 through June 30, 2014. The data was then assigned credibility weighting and 
combined with a standard table to produce current levels of mortality. This mortality was then projected forward to 
a period equivalent to the estimated duration of the System's liabilities. Annuity values calculated based on this 
mortality were compared to those produced by using a setback of standard tables. The result of the procedure 
indicated that these tables would produce liability values approximating the appropriate generational mortality tables 
used. 

The long term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building block method in 
which best estimates ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment 
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long term 
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage 
and by adding expected inflation of 2.4% and an adjustment for the effect of rebalancing/diversification. The 
resulting expected long term rate of return was 8.3% for the year ended June 30, 2015. 

Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class included in the System's target asset 
allocation as of June 30, 2015 are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class 
Public equity 
Public fixed income 
Alternatives 
Totals 
Inflation 
Expected Arithmetic Nominal Return 

Target Asset 
Allocation 

50% 
15% 
35% 

100% 

Long-Term Expected 
Portfolio Real Rate 

of Return 
2.95% 
0,89% 
2.06% 
5.90% 
2.40% 
8.30% 
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Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5%. The projection of cash flows 
used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current 
contribution rates and that contributions from participating employers will be made at the actuarially determined 
rates approved by PRSAC taking into consideration the recommendation of the System's actuary. Based on those 
assumptions, the System's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments 
was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity to changes in Discount Rate: 

The following presents the net pension liability of the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability using the 
discount rate of 7.5%, as well as what the City's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is one percentage point lower, or one percentage point higher than the current rate as of June 30,2015: 

Changes in Discount Rate 
1% Current 1% 

Decrease Rate Increase 
6.50% 7.50% 8.50% 

Net Pension Liability $ 9,896,374 $ 7,562,018 $ 5,573,110 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued Municipal Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana stand-alone audit report on 
their financial statements for the year ended June 30, at www.mersla.com. 

Payables to the Pension Plan: At September 30, 2015, the City had no payables to the Municipal Employees' 
Retirement System for the September, 30, 2015 employee and employer legally required contributions. 

B. Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana (MPERS) 

Plan Description: Police officers of the City are provided with pensions through a cost-sharing multiple-employer 
defined benefit plan established by Act 189 of 1973 and amended by Louisiana Revised Statutes (La. R.S. 11:2211 
- 11:2233) to provide retirement benefits for municipal police officers. The Municipal Police Employees' 
Retirement System of Louisiana is the administrator of this plan. Membership in the System is mandatory for any 
full-time police officer employed by a municipality of the State of Louisiana and engaged in law enforcement, 
empowered to make arrests, providing he or she does not have to pay social security and providing he or she meets 
the statutory criteria. The System provides retirement benefits for municipal police officers. The projections of 
benefit payments in the calculation of the total pension liability includes all benefits to be provided to current active 
and inactive employees through the System in accordance with benefit terms and any additional legal agreements to 
provide benefits that are in force at the measurement date. MPERS issues a public available financial report that can 
be obtained at www.lampers.org. 

Benefits Provided: The following is a description of the plan and its benefits and is provided for general 
information purposes only. Participants should refer to the appropriate statutes for more complete information. 
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Retirement - membership prior to January I, 2013: A member is eligible for regular retirement after he has been 
a member of the System and has 25 years of creditable service at any age or has 20 years of creditable service and is 
age 50 or has 12 years creditable service and is age 55. A member is eligible for early retirement after he has been a 
member of the System for 20 years of creditable service at any age with an actuarially reduced benefit. 

Benefit rates are three and one-third percent of average final compensation (average monthly earnings during the 
highest 36 consecutive months or joined months if service was interrupted) per number of years of creditable 
service not to exceed 100% of final salary. 

Upon the death of an active contributing member, or disability retiree, the plan provides for surviving spouses and 
minor children. Under certain conditions outlined in the statutes, the benefits range from forty to sixty percent of the 
member's average final compensation for the surviving spouse. In addition, each child under age eighteen receives 
benefits equal to ten percent of the member's average final compensation or $200 per month, whichever is greater. 

Retirement - membership commencing January 1, 2013: Member eligibility for regular retirement, early 
retirement, disability and survivor benefits are based on Hazardous Duty and Non Hazardous Duty sub plans. Under 
the Hazardous Duty sub plan, a member is eligible for regular retirement after he has been a member of the System 
and has 25 years of creditable service at any age or has 12 years of creditable service at age 55. Under the Non 
Hazardous Duty sub plan, a member is eligible for regular retirement after he has been a member of the System and 
has 30 years of creditable service at any age, 25 years of creditable service at age 55, or 10 years of creditable 
service at age 60. Under both sub plans, a member is eligible for early retirement after he has been a member of the 
System for 20 years of creditable service at any age, with an actuarially reduced benefit from age 55. 

Under the Hazardous and Non Hazardous Duty sub plans, the benefit rates are three percent and two and a half 
percent, respectively, of average final compensation (average monthly earnings during the highest 60 consecutive 
months or joined months if service was interrupted) per number of years of creditable service not to exceed 100% of 
final salary. 

Upon death of an active contributing member, or disability retiree, the plan provides for surviving spouses and 
minor children. Under certain conditions outlined in the statues, the benefits range from twenty-five to fifty-five 
percent of the member's average final compensation for the surviving spouse. In addition, each child under age 
eighteen receives ten percent of average final compensation or $200 per month whichever is greater. If deceased 
member had less than ten years of service, beneficiary will receive a reftind of employee contributions only. 

Cost of Living Adjustments: The Board of Trustees is authorized to provide annual cost-of-living adjustments 
computed on the amount of the current regular retirement, disability, beneficiary or survivor's benefit, not to exceed 
3% in any given year. The Board is authorized to provide an additional 2% COLA, computed on the member's 
original benefit, to all regular retirees, disability, survivors and beneficiaries who are 65 years of age or older on the 
cut-off dale which determines eligibility. 

No regular retiree, survivor or beneficiary shall be eligible to receive a cost-of-living adjustment until benefits have 
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been received at least one full fiscal year and the payment of such COLA when authorized, shall not be effective 
until the lapse of at least one-half of the fiscal year. Members who elect early retirement are not eligible for a cost 
of living adjustment until they reach retirement age. 

Deferred Retirement Option Plan: A member is eligible to elect to enter the deferred retirement option plan 
(DROP) when he is eligible for regular retirement based on the members' sub plan participation. Upon filing the 
application for the program, the employee's active membership in the System is terminated. At the entry date into 
the DROP, the employee and employer contributions cease. The amount to be deposited into the DROP account is 
equal to the benefit computed under the retirement plan elected by the participant at date of application. The 
duration of participation in the DROP is thirty-six months or less. If employment is terminated after the three-year 
period the participant may receive his benefits by lump sum payment or a true annuity. If employment is not 
terminated, active contributing membership into the System shall resume and upon later termination, he shall 
receive additional retirement benefit based on the additional service. For those eligible to enter DROP prior to 
January' 1, 2004, DROP accounts shall earn interest subsequent to the termination of DROP participation at a rate of 
half of one percentage point below the percentage rate of return of the System's investment portfolio as certified by 
the actuary on an annual basis but will never lose money. For those eligible to enter DROP subsequent to January 1, 
2004, an irrevocable election is made to eam interest based on the System's investment portfolio return or a money 
market investment return. This could result in a negative earnings rate being applied to the account. 

If the member elects a money market investment return, the funds are transferred to a government money market 
account. 

Initial Benefit Option Plan: In 1999, the State Legislature authorized the System to establish an Initial Benefit 
Option program. Initial Benefit Option is available to members who are eligible for regular retirement and liave not 
participated in DROP. The Initial Benefit Option program provides both a one-time single sum payment of up to 36 
months of regular monthly retirement benefit, plus a reduced monthly retirement benefit for life. Interest is 
computed on the balance based on the same criteria as DROP. 

Contributions: Contribution requirements of active employees are governed by Act 189 of 1973 and amended by 
Louisiana Revised Statutes (La. R.S. 11:2211 - 11:2233) and may be amended by the Louisiana Legislature. 
Employee and employer contributions are deducted from a member's salary and remitted to MPERS by participating 
employers. Contributions for all members are actuarially determined as required by state law but cannot be less than 
9% of the employees' eamable compensation excluding overtime but including state supplemental pay. For the year 
ending September 30, 2015, the actual employer contribution rate ranged from 29.5% to 31.5% of actual payroll, 
actuarially determined as an amount that, \\^en combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the 
costs of benefits earned by employees during the year, with an additional amount to finance any unfunded actuarial 
accrued liability. In accordance with state statute, the System receives insurance premium tax monies as additional 
employer contributions. Non-employer contributions were recognized as revenue during the year ended September 
30, 2015 and excluded from pension expense. Contributions to the pension plan from the City were $360,404 for the 
year ended September 30, 2015. 
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Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions: 

At September 30, 2015, the City reported a liability of $3,370,211 for its proportionate share of the net pension 
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2015 and the total pension liability used to calculate 
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City's proportion of the net 
pension liability was based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative 
to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2015, the City's 
proportion was 0.430206% which was a decrease of 0.015303% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2014. 

For the year ended September 30, 2015, the City recognized pension expense of $184,079. 

At September 30, 2015, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 

Governmental activities 
Deferred Deferred 
Outflows Inflows 

Differences between expected and actual experience $ - $61,927 
Net difference between projected and actual eamings 
on pension plan investments - 64,003 

Change of assumptions 294,075 486 
Change in proportion and differences between employer 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 127,683 332,657 

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 97,598 : 
Total $ 519,356 $ 459.073 

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions of $97,598 resulting from the City's contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended September 30, 
2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ended 
09/30/2016 $(91,066) 
09/30/2017 (91,066) 
09/30/2018 46,618 
09/30/2019 98,199 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability as of June 30, 
2015 are as follows: 

Valuation Date June 30, 2015 
Actuarial Cost Method Entry Age Normal 
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Investment Rate of Return 
Inflation Rate 
Expected Remaining Service Lives 
Salary increase, including inflation 
and merit 

7.5%, net of investment expense 
2.875% per annum 
4 years 
Salary growth 
Years of service 

1-2 
3-23 

Over 23 

Rate 
9.75% 
4.75% 
4.25% 

The mortality rate assumption used was set based upon an experience study performed by the prior actuary on plan 
data for the period July 1, 2009 through June 30, 2014 and review of similar law enforcement mortality. The data 
was assigned credibility weighting and combined with a standard table to produce current levels of mortality. This 
mortality was then projected forward to a period equivalent to the estimated duration of the System's liabilities. 
Annuity values calculated based on this mortality were compared to those produced by using a set-back of standard 
tables. The result of the procedure indicated that the tables used would produce liability values approximating the 
appropriate generational mortality tables. 

The best estimates of the arithmetic nominal rates of return for each major asset class included in the System's target 
allocation as of June 30, 2015 are summarized in the following table 

Asset Class 
Equity 
Fixed income 
Alternative 
Other 
Totals 
Inflation 
Expected Nominal Return 

Target 
Allocation 

52.00% 
20.00% 
23.00% 
5.00% 

100.00% 

Long-Term Expected 
Portfolio Real Rate 

of Return 
3.47% 
0.46% 
1.15% 
0.20% 
5.28% 
3.00% 
8.28% 

Discount Rate: The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5%. The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current 
contribution rates and that contributions from participating employers will be made at the actuarially determined 
rates approved by PRSAC taking into consideration the recommendation of the System's actuary. Based on those 
assumptions, the System's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of cunent plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments 
was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity to changes in Discount Rate: 

The following presents the net pension liability of the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability using the 
discount rate of 7.5%, as well as what the City's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 
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rate that is one percentage point lower, or one percentage point higher than the current rate as of June 30, 2015: 

Changes in Discount Rate 
1% Current 1% 

Decrease Rate Increase 
6.50% 7.50% 8.50% 

Net Pension Liability $ 4,685,914 $ 3,370,211 $ 2,267,681 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued Municipal Police Employees' Retirement System of Louisiana stand-alone audit 
report on their financial statements for the year ended June 30, at www. lampers .org. 

Payables to the Pension Plan: At September 30, 2015, the City had no payables to the Municipal Police 
Employees' Retirement System for the September, 30, 2015 employee and employer legally required contributions. 

C. State of Louisiana - Firefighters' Retirement System of Louisiana (FRS) 

Plan Description: Firefighters of the City are provided with pensions through a cost-sharing multiple-employer 
defined benefit plan administered by the Firefighters' Retirement System of Louisiana. Membership in the System is 
a condition of employment for any full-time firefighters who earn at least $375 per month and are employed by any 
municipality, parish, or fire protection district of the State of Louisiana in addition to employees of the Firefighters' 
Retirement System. The System provides retirement benefits for their members. The projections of benefit payments 
in the calculation of the total pension liability includes all benefits to be provided to current active and inactive 
employees through the System in accordance with benefit terms and any additional legal agreements to provide 
benefits that are in force at the measurement date. Benefit provision are authorized within Act 434 of 1979 and 
amended by Louisiana Revised Statutes (La. R.S. 11:2251 - 11:2272). FRS issues a publicly available financial 
report that can be obtained at www.lafirefightersret.com. 

Benefits Provided: The following is a description of the plan and its benefits and is provided for general 
information purposes only. Participants should refer to the appropriate statutes for more complete information. 

Any person who becomes an employee as defined in La. R.S. 11:2252 on or after January 1, 1980 shall become a 
member as a condition of employment. No person who has attained age fifty or over shall become a member of the 
System, unless the person becomes a member by reason of a merger or unless the System received an application 
for membership before the applicant attained the age of fifty. No person who has not attained the age of eighteen 
years shall become a member of the System. Any person who has retired from service under any retirement system 
or pension fund maintained basically for public officers and employees of the state, its agencies or political 
subdivisions, and who is receiving retirement benefits therefrom may become a member of this System, provided 
the person meets all other requirements for membership. Service credit from the retirement system or pension plan 
from which the member is retired shall not be used for reciprocal recognition of service with this System, or for any 
other purpose in order to attain eligibility or increase the amount of service credit in this System. 
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Deferred Retirement Option Plan: After completing 20 years of creditable service and age 50 or 25 years at any 
age, a member may elect to participate in the deferred retirement option plan (DROP) for up to 36 months. Upon 
commencement of participation in the deferred retirement option plan, employer and employee contributions to the 
System cease. The monthly retirement benefit that would have been payable is paid into the deferred retirement 
option plan account. Upon termination of employment, a participant in the program shall receive, at his option, a 
lump-sum payment from the account or an annuity based on the deferred retirement option plan account balance in 
addition to his regular monthly benefit. If employment is not terminated at the end of the 36 months, the participant 
resumes regular contributions to the System. No payments may be made from the deferred retirement option plan 
account until the participant retires. 

Initial Benefit Option Plan: Effective June 16, 1999, members eligible to retire and who do not choose to 
participate in DROP may elect to receive, at the time of retirement, an initial benefit option (IBO) in an amount up 
to 36 months of benefits, with an actuarial reduction of their future benefits. Such amounts may be withdrawn or 
remain in the IBO account earning interest at the same rate as the DROP account. 

Contributions: Contribution requirements of active employees are governed by Act 434 of 1979 and amended by 
Louisiana Revised Statutes (La. R.S. 11:2251 - 11:2272) and may be amended by the Louisiana Legislature. 
Employee and employer contributions are deducted from a member's salary and remitted to FRS by participating 
employers. Employer contributions are actuarially determined each year. For the year ending September 30, 2015, 
the actual employer contribution rate ranged from 27.25% to 29.25% of annual payroll, actuarially determined as an 
amount that, when combined with employee contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits earned by 
employees during the year, with an additional amount to fmance any unfunded actuarial accrued liability. In 
accordance with state statute, the System receives insurance premium tax monies as additional employer 
contributions. Non-employer contributions were recognized as revenue during the year ended September 30, 2015 
and excluded from pension expense. Contributions to the pension plan from the City were $165,271 for the year 
ended September 30, 2015. 

Pension liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions: 

At September 30, 2015, the City reported a liability of $1,474,113 for its proportionate share of the net pension 
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2015 and the total pension liability used to calculate 
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City's proportion of the net 
pension liability was based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative 
to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2015, the City's 
proportion was 0.273126% which was a decrease of 0.004651% from its proportion measured as of June 30, 2014. 

For the year ended September 30, 2015, the City recognized pension expense of $227,540. 
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At September 30, 2015, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 

Governmental activities 

Differences between expected and actual experience 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 

on pension plan investments 
Change of assumptions 
Change in proportion and differences between employer 
contributions and proportionate share of contributions 

Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 
Total 

Deferred 
Outflows 

158,107 
18,475 

71,330 
40.776 

288.688 

Defeired 
Inflows 

$ 67,371 

622 

160,596 

% 228.589 

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions of $40,776 resulting from the City's contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended September 30, 
2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ended 
09/30/2016 $4,113 
09/30/2017 4,113 
09/30/2018 4,113 
09/30/2019 31,081 
09/30/2020 (28,671) 
09/30/2021 4,574 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability as of June 30, 
2015 are as follows: 

Valuation Date 
Actuarial Cost Method 
Investment Rate of Return 
Inflation Rate 
Expected Remaining Service Lives 
Salary Increases 

Cost of Living Adjustments 

June 30, 2015 
Entry Age Normal Cost 
7.5%, per annum 
2.875% per annum 
7 years 
Vary from 15.0% in the first two years of service to 4.75% after 25 
years 
Only those previously granted 

The mortality rate assumption used was set based upon an experience study performed on plan data for the period 
July 1, 2009 through June 30, 2014. The data was then assigned credibility weighting and combined with a standard 
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table to produce current levels of mortality. This mortality was then projected forward to a period equivalent to the 
estimated duration of the System's liabilities. Annuity values calculated based on this mortality were compared to 
those produced by using a set-back of standard tables. The result of the procedure indicated that the tables used 
would produce liability values approximating the appropriate generational mortality tables. 

The estimated long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimates ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan 
investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce 
the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 
allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The long term expected nominal rate of return was 8.24% 
as of June 30, 2015. Best estimates of real rates of return for each major asset class included in FRS' target asset 
allocation as of June 30, 2015 are summarized in the following table: 

Long-Term Expected 
Target Portfolio Real ] 

Asset Class Allocation of Return 
Equity 51% 6.50% 
Fixed income 24% 1.84% 
Alternatives 15% 6.96% 
Other 10% 4.36% 
Totals 100% 5.24% 
Inflation 3.00% 
Expected Arithmetic Nominal Return 8.24% 

Discount rate; The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.5%. The projection of cash flows 
used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from plan members will be made at the current 
contribution rates and that contributions from participating employers will be made at the actuarially determined 
rates approved by PRSAC taking into consideration the recommendation of the System's actuary. Based on those 
assumptions, the System's fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments 
was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 
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Sensitivity to changes in Discount Rate: 

The following presents the net pension liability of the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability using the 
discount rate of 7.5%, as well as what the City's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is one percentage point lower, or one percentage point higher than the current rate as of June 30, 2015: 

Changes in Discount Rate 
1% Current 1% 

Decrease Rate Increase 
6.50% 7.50% 8.50% 

Net Pension Liability $2,091,144 $ 1,474,113 $ 955,394 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued Firefighters' Retirement System of Louisiana stand-alone audit report on their 
financial statements for the year ended June 30, at u'ww.lafirefightersret.com. 

Payables to the Pension Plan: At September 30, 2015, the City had no payables to the Firefighters' Retirement 
System of Louisiana for the September, 30, 2015 employee and employer legally required contributions. 

D. Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System (LASERS) 

Plan Description: Employees of the City are provided with pensions through a cost-sharing multiple-employer 
defined benefit plan administered by the Louisiana State Employees' Retirement System (LASERS). Section 401 of 
Title 11 of the Louisiana Revised Statutes (La. R.S. 11:401) grants to LASERS Board of Trustees and the Louisiana 
Legislature the authority to review administration, benefit terms, investments, and funding of the plan. LASERS 
issues a publicly available financial report that can be obtained at www.lasersonline. org. 

Benefits Provided: The following is a description of the plan and its benefits and is provided for general 
information purposes only. Participants should refer to the appropriate statutes for more complete information. 

Retirement: The age and years of creditable service required in order for a member to retire with full benefits are 
established by statute, and vary depending on the member's hire date, employer, and job classification. The majority 
of LASERS rank and file members may either retire with full benefits at any age upon completing 30 years of 
creditable service or at age 60 upon completing five to ten years of creditable service depending on their plan. 
Additionally, members may choose to retire with 20 years of service at any age, with an actuarially reduced benefit. 
The basic annual retirement benefit for members is equal to 2.5% to 3.5% of average compensation multiplied by 
the number of years of creditable service. 

Average compensation is defined as the member's average annual earned compensation for the highest 36 
consecutive months of employment for members employed prior to July 1, 2006. For members hired July 1, 2006 or 
later, average compensation is based on the member's average annual earned compensation for the highest 60 
consecutive months of employment. The maximum annual retirement benefit cannot exceed the lesser of 100% of 
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average compensation or a certain specified dollar amount of actuarially determined monetary limits, which vary 
depending upon the member's age at retirement. Judges, court officers, and certain elected officials receive an 
additional annual retirement benefit equal to 1.0% of average compensation multiplied by the number of years of 
creditable service in their respective capacity. As an alternative to the basic retirement benefits, a member may elect 
to receive their retirement throughout their life, with certain benefits being paid to their designated beneficiary after 
their death. 

Act 992 of the 2010 Louisiana Regular Legislative Session, changed the benefit structure for LASERS members 
hired on or after January 1, 2011. This resulted in three new plans: regular, hazardous duty, and judges. The new 
regular plan includes regular members and those members who were formerly eligible to participate in specialty 
plans, excluding hazardous duty and judges. Regular members and judges are eligible to retire at age 60 after five 
years of creditable service and, may also retire at any age, with a reduced benefit, after 20 years of creditable 
service. Hazardous duty members are eligible to retire with twelve years of creditable service at age 55, 25 years of 
creditable service at any age or with a reduced benefit after 20 years of creditable service. Average compensation 
will be based on the member's average annual earned compensation for the highest 60 consecutive months of 
employment for all three new plans. Members in the regular plan will receive a 2.5% accrual rate, hazardous duty 
plan a 3.33% accrual rate, and judges a 3.5% accrual rate. The extra 1.0% accrual rate for each year of service for 
court officers, the governor, lieutenant governor, legislators. House clerk, sergeants at arms, or Senate secretary, 
employed after January 1, 2011, was eliminated by Act 992. Specialty plan and regular members, hired prior to 
January 1, 2011, who are hazardous duty employees have the option to transition to the new hazardous duty plan. 

A member leaving employment before attaining minimum retirement age, but after completing certain minimum 
service requirements, becomes eligible for a benefit provided the member lives to the minimum service retirement 
age, and does not withdraw their accumulated contributions. The minimum service requirement for benefits varies 
depending upon the member's employer and service classifications but generally is ten years of service. 

Deferred Retirement Benefits: The State Legislature authorized LASERS to establish a Deferred Retirement 
Option Plan (DROP). When a member enters DROP, their status changes from active member to retiree even though 
they continue to work and draw their salary for a period of up to three years. The election is irrevocable once 
participation begins. During DROP participation, accumulated retirement benefits that would have been paid to each 
retiree are separately tracked. For members who entered DROP prior to January 1, 2004, interest at a rate of one-half 
percent less than the System's realized return on its portfolio (not to be less than zero) will be credited to the retiree 
after participation ends. At that time, the member must choose among available alternatives for the distribution of 
benefits that have accumulated in the DROP account. Members who enter DROP on or after January 1, 2004, are 
required to participate in LASERS Self-Directed Plan (SDP) which is administered by a third-party provider. The 
SDP allows DROP participants to choose from a menu of investment options for the allocation of their DROP 
balances. Participants may diversify their investments by choosing from an approved list of mutual funds with 
different holdings, management styles, and risk factors. 

Members eligible to retire and who do not choose to participate in DROP may elect to receive at the time of 
retirement an initial benefit option (IBO) in an amount up to 36 months of benefits, with an actuarial reduction of 
their future benefits. For members who selected the IBO option prior to January 1, 2004, such amount may be 
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withdrawn or remain in the IBO account earning interest at a rate of one-half percent less than the System's realized 
return on its portfolio (not to be less than zero). Those members who select the IBO on or after January 1, 2004, are 
required to enter the SDP as described above. 

Disability Benefits: All members with ten or more years of credited service who become disabled may receive a 
maximum disability retirement benefit equivalent to the regular retirement formula without reduction by reason of 
age. 

Upon reaching age 60, the disability retiree may receive a regular retirement benefit by making an application to 
the Board of Trustees. 

For injuries sustained in the line of duty, hazardous duty personnel in the Hazardous Duty Services Plan will 
receive a disability benefit equal to 75% of final average compensation. 

Survivor's Benefits: Certain eligible surviving dependents receive benefits based on the deceased member's 
compensation and their relationship to the deceased. The deceased member who was in state service at the time of 
death must have a minimum of five years of service credit, at least two of which were earned immediately prior to 
death, or who had a minimum of twenty years of service credit regardless of when earned in order for a benefit to be 
paid to a minor or handicapped child. Benefits are payable to an unmarried child until age 18, or age 23 if the child 
remains a full-time student. The aforementioned minimum service credit requirement is ten years for a surviving 
spouse with no minor children, and benefits are to be paid for life to the spouse or qualified handicapped child. 

Permanent Benefit Increases/Cost-of-Llving Adjustments: As fully described in Title II of the Louisiana 
Revised Statues, the System allows for the payment of permanent benefit increases, also known as cost-of-living 
adjustments (COLAs), that are funded through investment earnings when recommended by the Board of Trustees 
and approved by the State Legislature. 

Contributions: Contribution requirements of active employees are governed by Section 401 of Title 11 of the 
Louisiana Revised Statutes (La. R.S. 11:401} and may be amended by the Louisiana Legislature. Employee and 
employer contributions are deducted from a member's salary and remitted to LASERS by participating employers, 
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The rates in effect during the year ended September 30, 2015 for the various plans follow: 
2015 

Plan Employer 
Plan Status Rate 

Appellate Law Clerks Closed 37.00% 
Appellate Law Clerks hired on or after 7/01/06 Open 37.00% 
Alcohol Tobacco Control Closed 44.80% 
Bridge Police Closed 35.30% 
Bridge Police hired on or after 7/01/06 Closed 35.30% 
Corrections Primary Closed 39.90% 
Corrections Secondary Closed 40.80% 
Hazardous Duty Open 35.60% 
Judges hired before 1/1/2011 Closed 41.50% 
Judges hired after 12/31/2010 Open 36.20% 
Legislators Closed 41.20% 
Optional Retirement Plan (ORP) before 7/01/06* Closed 37.00% 
Optional Retirement Plan (ORP) on or after 7/01/06* Closed 37.00% 
Peace Officers Closed 41.50% 
Regular Employees hired before 7/01/06 Closed 37.00% 
Regular Employees hired on or after 7/01/06 Closed 37.00% 
Regular Employees hired on or after 1/1/11 Open 37.00% 
Special Legislative Employees Closed 41.20% 
Wildlife Agents Closed 46.90% 
Aggregate Rate 37.40% 

*For ORP the projected employer contribution effort was calculated using the shared UAL portion of the 
contribution rate of 33.4% for 2016. 

The City's contractually required composite contribution rate for the year ended September 30, 2015 ranged from 
36.2%-39.3% of annual payroll, actuarially determined as an amount that, when combined with employee 
contributions, is expected to finance the costs of benefits eamed by employees during the year, with an additional 
amount to finance any unfunded actuarial accrued liability. Contributions to the pension plan from the City were 
$1,637 for the year ended September 30, 2015. 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources 
Related to Pensions: 

At September 30, 2015, the City reported a liability of $20,974 for its proportionate share of the net pension 
liability. The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2015 and the total pension liability used to calculate 
the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The City's proportion of the net 
pension liability was based on a projection of the City's long-term share of contributions to the pension plan relative 
to the projected contributions of all participating employers, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2015, the City's 
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proportion was 0.00031% which was equal to the proportion measured as of June 30, 2014. 

For the year ended September 30, 2015, the City recognized pension expense of $1,013. 

At September 30, 2015, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions from the following sources: 

Differences between expected and actual experience 
Net difference between projected and actual earnings 

on pension plan investments 
Change of assumptions 
Change in proportion and differences between employer 

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 
Employer contributions subsequent to the measurement date 

Total 

Governmental activities 
Deferred Deferred 
Outflows 

$ 28 

22 
1.925 
1.975 

Inflows 
$ 172 

16 

634 

$ 822 

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions of S1,925 resulting from the City's contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended September 30, 
2016. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized in pension expense as follows: 

Fiscal Year Ended 
09/30/2016 
09/30/2017 
09/30/2018 
09/30/2019 

$(621) 
(447) 
(156) 
452 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 
A summary of the actuarial methods and assumptions used in determining the total pension liability as of June 30, 
2015 are as follows: 

Valuation Date 
Actuarial Cost Method 
Investment Rate of Return 
Inflation Rate 
Expected Remaining Service Lives 
Mortality 

June 30, 2015 
Entry Age Normal 
7.75% per annum 
3% per annum 
3 years 
Non-disabled members - Mortality rates based on the RP-2000 
Combined Healthy Mortality Table with mortality improvement 
projected to 2015 
Disabled members - Mortality rates based on the RP-2000 
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Termination, Disability, and 
Retirement 

Disabled Retiree Mortality Table, with no projection for mortality 
improvement. 
Termination, disability, and retirement 
assumptions were projected based on a five-year (2009-2013) 
experience study of the System's members 

Salary Increases Salary increases were projected based on a 2009-2013 experience 
study of the System's members. The salary increase ranges for 
specific types of members are: 

Lower Upper 
Member Tvne Ranee Ranee 

Regular 4.0% 13.0% 
Judges 3.0% 5.5% 
Corrections 3.6% 14.5% 
Hazardous Duty 3.6% 14.5% 
Wildlife 3.6% 14.5% 

Cost of Living Adjustments The present value of future retirement benefits is based on benefits 
currently being paid by the System and includes previously granted 
cost of living raises. The projected benefit payments do not 
include provisions for potential future increases not yet authorized 
by the Board of Trustees. 

The long term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building block method in 
which best estimates ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of pension plan investment 
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long term 
expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage 
and by adding expected inflation of 3.0% and an adjustment for the effect of rebalancing/diversification. The 
resulting expected long term rate of return is 8.66% for 2015. Best estimates of geometric real rates of return for 
each major asset class included in the System's target asset allocation as of June 30, 2015 are summarized in the 
following table: 

Target Long-term expected 
Asset Class Allocation Real Rate of Return 

Cash 0% 0.24% 
Domestic equity 27% 4.56% 
International equity 30% 5.67% 
Domestic Fixed Income 10% 2.24% 
International Fixed Income 2% 3.64% 
Alternative Investments 24% 7.82% 
Global Tactical Asset Allocation 7% 3.70% 
Total Fund 100% 5.66% 
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Discount RateJ The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.75%. The projection of cash 
flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will be made at the current 
contribution rate and that employer contributions from participating employers will be made at contractually 
required rates, actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan's fiduciary net position was 
projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current active and inactive plan members. 
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected 
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability. 

Sensitivity to Changes in Discount Rate: 

The following presents the net pension liability of the City's proportionate share of the net pension liability using the 
discount rate of 7.75%, as well as what the City's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a 
discount rate that is one percentage point lower, or one percentage point higher than the current rate as of June 30, 
2015: 

Changes in Discount Rate 
1% Current 1% 

Decrease Rate Increase 
6.75% 7.75% 8.75% 

Net Pension Liability $26,442 $20,949 $16,284 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position: Detailed information about the pension plan's fiduciary net position is 
available in the separately issued LASERS 2015 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the year ended June 
30, at www.lasei'sonline.org. 

Payables to the Pension Plan: At September 30, 2015, the City had no payables to the Louisiana State Employees' 
Retirement System for the September, 30, 2015 employee and employer legally required contributions. 

11. CAPITAL .4ND OPERATING LEASES 

The City records items under capital leases as an asset and an obligation in the accompanying financial statements. The 
City entered into a capital lease agreement during the fiscal year for a fire truck. The cost of the truck is $619,567 and 
the city is required to make seven (7) payments of $97,880. One payment was made during the current fiscal year. At the 
end of year seven (7), the City has the option of purchasing the truck for a payment of $1. Interest accrues at a rate of 
3.298%. 
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Future minimum payments are as follows: 

Total 

Fiscal vear Principal Interest Total 
2016 $ 80,564 $ 17,316 $ 97,880 
2017 83,221 14,659 97,880 
2018 85,966 11,914 97,880 
2019 88,801 9,079 97,880 
2020 91,730 6,150 97,880 
2021 94.755 3.125 97.880 

S 525.037 S 62.243 S 587.280 

The municipality has operating leases and rental expense as follows: 

Equipment: 
Ricoh MPC5503 Copier - $254.69/month for 48 months 
Canon IPF765 Copier - $228/month for 48 months 
Ricoh MPC 3503 - $186/month for 60 months 
Ricoh MPC 3001 - $195/month for 48 months 
Canon Fax - $ 17/month for 45 months 

Total rental expense 

Governmental 
Activities 
$ 1,019 

2,232 
2,340 

209 
%Lm 

The minimum annual commitments under noncancelable operating leases are as follows: 

Business-type 
activities 
$ 1,019 

2,736 

S 3.755 

Fiscal vear: 
2016 
2017 
2018 
Total 

12. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 

The following is a summary of changes in long-term debt for the year ended September 30, 2015: 

Governmental activities: 
Refunding bonds 
Compensated absences 
Estimated claim 
Net OPEB obligation 
Capital lease 
Pension obligation 

Total govemmental debt 

Balance 
Oct. 1.2014 

$ 2,230,000 
299,883 
25,000 

3,604,316 

% 6.159.199 

Additions 
$ 

23,274 
204,042 
321,220 
619,568 

8.419.446 
$ 9.587.550 

Deductions 
$ (290,000) 

(94,531) 

Balance 
Sept. 30. 2015 

$ 1,940,000 
323,157 
229,042 

3,925,536 
525,037 

8.419.446 
$ 15.362.218 

Amount due 
within one vear 

$ 300,000 
19,987 

>,564 

S 400.551 
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Business-type activities: 
Compensated absences 
Net OPEB obligation 
Pension obligation 

Total business-type debt 

Balance 
Oct- 1.2014 

213,653 
1,462,786 

Additions 
$ 

121,842 
4.007.870 

Deductions 
$ (6,377) 

Balance 
Sept. 30. 2015 

$ 207,276 
1,584,628 
4.007.870 

Amount due 
within one year 

$ 23,936 

$ 1.676.439 $ 4.129.712 % t6.377> S 23.936 

For governmental activities, refunding bonds are liquidated by the Sales Tax Refunding Bonds, Series, 2010 fund. 
The compensated absences and net OPEB obligation are generally liquidated by the General Fund. 

Bonds payable at September 30, 2015, are comprised of the following individual issue: 

Principal 
Outstanding 

Interest 
to 

Maturity 
$3,115,000 Sales Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2010 

dated November 1,2010; due in annual installments 
of $270,000 - $350,000 through January 1, 2021; 
interest at 2%-3.25%; secured by pledge 
of the City's 1% sales and use tax designated for 
sewerage system improvements and recreation $ 1,940,000 $ 177,288 

The annual requirements to amortize all debt outstanding as of September 30, 2015, including interest payments of 
$177,288, are as follows: 

Year ending 
September 30 Principal Interest Total 

2016 $ 300,000 $ 50,675 $ 350,675 
2017 310,000 43,050 353,050 
2018 320,000 35,175 355,175 
2019 325,000 26,300 351,300 
2020 335,000 16,401 351.401 
202! 350.000 5.687 355.687 

$ 1.940.000 $ 177 288 $ 2.117.288 

At September 30, 2015, $271,789 was available in the Debt Service Funds to service the general obligation bonds. 
In accordance with Louisiana Revised Statutes, the City is legally restricted in the amount of long-term bonded debt 
that may be issued. At September 30, 2015, the statutory limit was $7,341,064. As of September 30, 2015, the City 
had no bonds secured by advalorem taxes. 

Total interest expense paid on long-term debt as of September 30, 2015 was $78,121. 

68 



CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Notes to the Financial Statements 

As of and for the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

13. INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS 

Interfund receivables and payables at September 30, 2015, were as follows; 

Payables 
Enterprise Police 

Fund Bond Fund Receivable 
General Fund 

Total 
S12.150 $5.514 S6J36 

Interfund transfers during the year ended September 30, 2015, were as follows: 

Operating Transfers In 

Transfers out 
Sales Tax Fund 
Sales Tax Fund -
Sewerage System 
Enterprise Fund 
Total 

General 
Fund 

$ 2,782,200 

1,318,569 
3.641.720 

$ 7.742.489 

Enterprise 
Fund 

807,819 

Non-Major 
Governmental 

353,025 

$ 807JTS $ 353.025 

Total 
$ 2,782,200 

2,479,413 
3.641.720 

•$ 8.903.333 

Transfers are primarily used to move funds as follows: 

Sales Tax Fund -- Sewerage System to cover debt service attributable to sewerage bonds and recreation bonds, to 
cover costs of recreation activities within the General Fund, and to cover costs of the sewer system within the Utility 
Fund. 

The Enterprise Fund and Sales Tax Fund make transfers to supplement costs within the General Fund. 

14. RETAINED EARNINGS/FUND BALANCES 

Inventory at year end is equally offset by an unspendable fund balance amount in the General Fund. 

Revenues collected by the Sales Tax Sewerage Fund are authorized to be used for constructing, acquiring, 
extending, improving, operating and maintaining sewers and sewerage and recreation facilities, therefore fund 
balance is restricted. 

Advalorem tax and annual City appropriations comprise the main revenues collected by the Main Street Program to 
be used solely and exclusively for the purpose and benefit of the Downtown Development District of the City of 
Minden. 

Revenues collected by the Drug Task Force Fund are restricted to drug enforcement activities. 
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Revenues reported in Sales Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2010 fund are restricted for debt service. 

Restricted Net Position - Governmental Activities 

The following table shows the net position restricted for other purposes as shown on the Statement of Net Position: 

Fund Restricted bv Amount 
Sales Tax Sewerage Fund Local ordinance/election $2,950,985 
Sales Tax, Series 2002 Refunding Local ordinance/election 570,839 
Drug Task Force Statutory requirements 28.267 

Total restricted net assets - governmental activities $ 3.550.091 

Restricted Net Position - Business-Type Activities 

Enterprise Fund: 
Restricted for meter deposits: 
Cash and investments $ 753,550 
Less: meter deposit liability (666.517) 
Total enterprise fund restricted for meter deposits $ 87.033 

15. CONTRACTUAL SERVICE AGREEMENT - SANITATION SERVICES 

The City has an agreement with BFI/Allied Waste Industries, Inc., a private company, to provide sanitation services 
to the City. These services include residential garbage and recyclable item pick-up and the dispo.sal of such waste, 
with fees based on the number of pick-ups per week and the type of collection (curbside or backyard). The City 
then charges a monthly fee for sanitation services to individual customers on their utilities bills. 

16. LITIGATION AND CLAIMS 

In Timothy Morris versus City of Minden, et al: 26''' Judicial Court, Webster Parish, Louisiana, #73391, a suit was 
filed against the City in an appeal by Officer Morris alleging that he was fired without just cause. The case is 
presently in the appeal posture, and if the City is found liable it could incur significant loss which would not be 
covered by insurance. 

During the year, a City internal audit revealed possible underpayments to civil service employees. 

As of September 30, 2015, the City recognized a liability of $229,042 in the government-wide financial statements, 
which represents an estimate of the potential obligations from claims and contingencies against the City, not covered by 
insurance resulting from litigation and claims. 

At September 30, 2015, the City is involved in several other lawsuits claiming damages. In the opinion of the City's 
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legal counsel, the exposure to the City would be any costs in defense of the lawsuits with no liability to the City in 
excess of insurance coverage. Effective April 1, 1998, the City reinstated its general liability coverage. 

17. POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

Plan descrivtion - The City provides post employment benefits for eligible participants enrolled in the City of 
Minden health insurance program through the City of Minden, Employee Benefit Plan & Trust. This plan is a single 
employer defined benefit plan and the City maintains the authority to establish and amend plan benefit provisions 
and determine the contribution rates of the City and plan members. The plan provides medical, dental, vision, life 
and accidental death benefits, it is subject to the provisions of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 
1974 (ERISA). The benefits are provided in the form of: 

• An implicit rate subsidy where retirees receive health insurance coverage by paying a combined 
retiree/active rate 

• An explicit subsidy where the city provides a health premium subsidy to eligible retirees 

Funding policy - Retiree contributions are based on the total years that the retiree has provided services to the City. 
Retirees with less than 25 years of service receive a subsidy equal to 50% of the full premium. Retirees with more 
than 25 years of service receive a subsidy equal to 60% of the full premium. 

The premiums, which include medical, dental, life and vision, are provided in the table below: 

Non Medicare Premiums 

Rate Tier 
Retiree only 
Retiree & child (children) 
Retiree & spouse 
Retiree + Family 

Rates 
Effective 

04/01/2015 
$ 802.05 
$ 1,708.37 
$ 1,798.07 
$ 2,395.15 

Rates 
Effective 

04/01/2014 
$ 771.20 
$ 1,642.66 
$ 1,728.91 
$ 2,303.03 

Medicare Premiums 

Rate T ier 
Retiree only 
Retiree & spouse 
Retiree & spouse (one w/Medicare) 
Retiree & spouse (one w/Medicare) (> 25 yrs.) 

Rates 
Effective 

04/01/2015 
$ 458.06 
$ 900.69 
$ 1,272.81 
$1,272.81 

Rates 
Effective 

04/01/2014 
$ 440.05 
$ 866.05 
$ 1,214.16 

1,214.16 

The plan is currently financed on a "pay-as-you-go" basis. For the year ended September 30, 2015, the City 
contributed $378,848 for 34 retirees. 
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Annual other post employment benefit cost and liability - The City's annual required contribution (ARC) is an 
amount actuarially determined in accordance with GASB 45. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on 
an ongoing basis, would cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities over a period 
not to exceed thirty years. The unfunded actuarial accrued liability of $10,342,000 is amortized over the maximum 
allowable period of 30 years on an open basis. It is calculated assuming a level percentage of projected payroll. The 
actuarially computed ARC is as follows; 

Normal cost 
30 year UAL amortization amount 
Annual required contribution (ARC) 

2015 
$416,000 

384.000 
$ 800.000 

The following table shows the components of the City's OPEB obligation for fiscal years 2015,2014, and 2013: 

2015 2014 2013 
Net OPEB obligiition - beginning of the year $ 5,067,102 $ 3,816,946 $2,851,114 

Annual required contribution 800,000 1,688,000 1,688,000 
Interest on net OPEB obligation 202,684 171,763 331,297 
Adjustments to ARC U80.7741 (145.737) (281.104) 
Annual OPEB cost 821,910 1,714,026 1,738,193 
Less: current year contributions 1378.848) (463.870) (772.361) 
Increase in net OPEB obligation 443.062 1.250.156 965.832 

Net OPEB obligation - end of year $^10,164 % 5.067.102. $ 3 816.946 

Percentage of amiual OPEB cost contributed 46.09% 27.06% 44.43% 

Fundins status and fundim pfO£ress - The actuarial accrued liability is the present value of future benefits which 
is attributable to past service. The actuarial accrued liability of the City's post employment benefit plan as of 
October 1, 2014 is $10,342,000. The unfunded actuarial accrued liability is the difference between the actuarial 
accrued liability and the actuarial value of plan assets. Since the plan has no assets, the unfunded actuarial accrued 
liability for the City's post employment benefit plan is the same as the actuarial accrued liability of $10,342,000. 

The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was 
UAAL to the covered payroll was 170.83%. 

>,053,895, and the ratio of the 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about 
the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, 
mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. 
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Amounts determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer 
are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made 
about the future. 

The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the 
financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is 
increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits. 

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions - Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the 
substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits 
provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and 
plan members at that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to 
reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent 
with the long-term perspective of the calculations. 

The City's actuarial valuation as of October I, 2014 was calculated using the projected unit credit method with 
benefits attributed from the date of hire to expected retirement age. The actuarial assumption included a 4.0% 
discount rate. Other critical assumptions used in the actuarial valuation are the health care cost trend rate and 
participation assumptions. The valuation uses a health care cost trend rate assumption of 8% in the year October 1, 
2014 to September 30, 2015 grading down by 0.5% each year imtil an ultimate health care cost trend rate is reached 
of4.5%. 

The participation assumption is the assumed percentage of future retirees that participate and emoll in the health 
plan. The participation assumption used in this valuation is 75%. 

18. ON BEHALF PAYMENTS 

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015, qualified city employees of the City Police Department, City Fire 
Department, and the City Marshal's Office received supplemental pay from the State of Louisiana. In accordance 
with Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASH) Statement No. 24, the City has recorded revenues and 
expenditures for these payments in the General Fund. Revenues under this arrangement totaled $252,517 for the 
year ended September 30,2015, and the related expenditures are as follows: 

Public Safety -
Police $ 161,017 
Fire 85,500 
Ward Marshal 6.000 

Total public safety $ 252.517 
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19. NEW GASB STANDARDS 

The City adopted two new statements of financial accounting standards issued by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board; 

• Statement No. 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions - an amendment of GASB Statement 
No. 27 establishes standards of accounting and financial reporting for defined benefit pensions and defined 
contribution pensions provided to employees of state and local governmental employers through pension 
plans that are administered through trusts or equivalent arrangements. This Statement establishes standards 
for measuring and recognizing pension liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, deferred inflows of 
resources, and expense/expenditures. For defined benefit pensions, this Statement identifies the methods 
and assumptions that should be used to project benefit payments, discount projected benefit payments to 
their actuarial present value, and attribute that present value to periods of employee service. 

• Statement No. 71, Pension Transition for Contributions Made Subsequent to the Measurement Date - an 
amendment of GASB Statement No. 68, amends paragraph 137 of Statement 68 to require that, at transition, 
a government recognize a beginning deferred outflow of resources for its pension contributions, if any, 
made subsequent to the measurement date of the beginning net pension liability. 

The adoption of Statements No. 68 and No. 71 has no impact on the City's governmental fund financial statements, 
which continue to report expenditures in the amount of the actuarially determined contributions, as required by state 
law. The calculation of pension contributions is unaffected by the change. However, the adoption has resulted in 
the restatement of the City's fiscal year 2014 government-wide financial statements to reflect the reporting of net 
pension liabilities, deferred outflows of resources, and deferred inflows of resources for each of its qualified pension 
plans and the recognition of pension expense in accordance with the provisions of the statements. Net position as of 
October 1, 2014 was decreased by $11,008,684 reflecting the cumulative retrospective effect of the adoption. Refer 
to Note 10 for more information regarding the City's pensions. 
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20. PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT 

The government-wide financial statements and Statement of Net Position, Proprietary Funds include prior period 
adjustments to reflect the implementation of GASB 68 and 71. A correction was made to the governmental 
activities to record the cost and accumulated depreciation of a bridge built in 1993, which was not included in the 
original calculation performed in 2007. A correction was made to the proprietary fund and business-type activities 
to properly record construction in progress of $34,171 and record a bad debt write-off accounts receivable from 
utilities in the amount of $ 155,949 not recognized in the prior year. 

The beginning net position presented in the government-wide financial statements have been restated to reflect the 
following adjustments and corrections: 

Governmental activities: 
Net position, previously reported 
Prior period adjustment: 
Change in accounting principle: 
Net effect of recording net pension liability 
Correction to record cost and accumulated 
depreciation of bridge 

Net position, as restated 

$23,578,068 

(7,824,058) 

175.141 
$ 15.929.151 

Net position, as previously reported 
Prior period adjustment: 
Change in accounting principle: 
Net effect of recording net pension liability 
Corrections: 

Construction in progress 
Bad debt writeoff 

Net position, as restated 

Business-Type 
Activities 

$ 29,852,232 

(3,184,626) 

34,171 
(155.949) 

26.545.828 

Utility 
Fund 

$ 29,852,168 

(3,184,626) 

34,171 
(155.949) 

26.545.764 

75 



REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Required supplementary information includes financial information and disclosures that are required by 
the GASB but are not considered a part of the basic financial statements. Such information includes: 

Budgetary Comparison Schedules: 
General Fund 
Sales Tax Fund 
Sales Tax Fund - Sewerage System 

Modified Approach for Reporting Infrastructure 

Schedule of Funding Progress for Other Post Employment Benefit Plan 

Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability 

Schedule of Employer Contributions 



SCHEDULE la 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances -
Budget and Actual 

General Fund 
For the Year Ended September 30,2015 

Variance with 
Actual Final Budget 

Budgeted Amoimts GAAP Positive 
Original Final Basis (Negative) 

REVENUES 
Taxes - ad valorem } ; 439,500 $ 439,500 $ 439,055 $ (445) 
Licenses - occupational 575,000 575,000 578,268 3,268 
Fees and rentals 615,100 583,100 547,607 (35,493) 
Charges for services 1,362,160 1,080,160 1,098,685 18,525 
Fines and forfeitures 86,000 86,000 103,838 17,838 
Intergovenunental 857,050 687,050 691,337 4,287 
Interest 3.500 3,500 5,430 1,930 
Miscellaneous 75.000 75,000 167,637 92.637 

Total revenues 4,013,310 3,529,310 3,631,857 102,547 

EXPENDITURES 
General Govenunent 2.978.872 2,836,072 2,798,438 37,634 
Public Safetv 4,439,923 4,305,323 4,778,045 (472,722) 
Elighvvay and streets 971,379 894,679 875,850 18,829 
Sanitation and health 931,023 931,023 920,145 10,878 
Parks and recreation 3,678,013 1,517,113 1,562,502 (45,389) 
Public works 866,328 677,328 661,845 15,483 
Debt sendee - - 97,880 (97,880) 

Total expenditures 11,865,538 11,161,538 11,694,705 (533,167) 

(Deficiency) of revenues over 
expenditures (7,852,228) (7,632,228) (8,062,848) (430,620) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES(USES) 
Operating transfers in 7,852,228 7,852,228 7,742,489 (109,739) 
Operating transfers out - (220,000) - 220,000 
Proceeds from capital lease - - 619,568 619,568 

Total other financing sources (uses) 7.852,228 7,632,228 8,362,057 729,829 

Net change in fund balance - - 299,209 299,209 

Fund balance at beginning of year 1.087.425 1,087,425 1,087,425 . 

Fund balance at end of year $ 1,087,425 $ 1,087,425 $ 1,386,634 S 299,209 

The accompanying noies are an integral part of this statement. 
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SCHEDULE ib 

CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -

Budget and Actual 
Special Revenue Fund - Sales Tax Fund 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

Budgeted Amounts 
Actual 
GAAP 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Original Budget Basis (Negative) 
REVENUES: 
Taxes - sales 
Interest 
Total revenues 

$ 3,050,000 
2,200 

3,052,200 

$ 2,830,000 
2,200 

2,832,200 

$ 2,913,859 
12,818 

2,926,677 

$ 83,859 
10,618 
94,477 

EXPENDITURES: 
General government -
Collection expense 
Miscellaneous 

50,000 50,000 45,455 4,545 

Total expenditures 50,000 50,000 45,455 4,545 

Excess of revenues over expenditures 3,002,200 2,782,200 2,881,222 99,022 

OTHER FINANCING (USES) 
Operating transfers out (3,002,200) (2,782,200) (2,782,200) 

Total other financing (uses) (3,002,200) (2,782,200) (2,782,200) -

Excess of revenues over 
expenditures and other (uses) 99,022 99,022 

Fund balance at beginning of year 2,239,455 2,239,455 2,239,455 -

Fund balance at end of year $ 2,239,455 : S 2,239,455 : S 2,338,477 J ̂  99,022 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances -

Budget and Actual 
Special Revenue Fund - Sales Tax Fund Sewerage System 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

SCHEDULE Ic 

Budgeted Amounts 
Actual 
GAAP 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positive 
Original Budget Basis (Negative) 

REVENUES 
Sales taxes 
Interest 

Total revenues 

$ 3,050,000 
2,300 

3,052,300 

$ 2,830,000 
2,300 

2,832,300 

$ 2,913,858 
6,043 

2,919,901 

$ 83,858 
3,743 

87,601 

EXPENDITURES 
General government -
Collection expense 
Total expenditures 

50,000 
50,000 

50,000 
50,000 

44,870 
44,870 

5,130 
5,130 

Excess of revenues over expenditures 3,002,300 2,782,300 2,875,031 92,731 

OTHER FINANCING (USES) 
Operating transfers out 
Total other financing (uses) 

(3,002,300) 
(3,002,300) 

(2,782,300) 
(2,782,300) 

(2,479,413) 
(2,479,413) 

302,887 
302,887 

Excess of revenues over 
expenditures and other (uses) - - 395,618 395,618 

Fund balance at beginning of year 2,555,367 2,555,367 2,555,367 -

Fund balance at end of year $ 2,555,367 $ 2,555,367 ! $ 2,950,985 ! S 395,618 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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SCHEDULE 2 

CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
CONDITION RATING OF THE CITY'S STREET SYSTEM 

For the year ended September 30,2015 

2013 2014 2015 
# of city streets 328 328 338 
Percentage of streets in good or better condition 86.0% 86.0% 74.0% 
Percentage of streets in substandard condition 14.0% 14.0% 26.0% 

Comparison of needed to actual maintenance/preservation 
Needed as of 1/1 (date of assessment) $ 1,650,532 $ 1,650,532 $ 4,363,000 

Actual cost of improvements incurred as of 9/30 $ 654,698 $ 73,711 $ 50,369 

The condition of road pavement is measured by the City using a pavement management system which 
rates the condition of the pavement surfaces using a 1 -5 rating scale assessing the following distress 
factors: 

• Base failure 
• Surface wear 
• Effects of outside construction contractors which may cause damage to streets during various 

projects 
• Presence of potholes 

The system is based on a condition rating system from 1 to 5. The rating scale used to classify roads in 
good or better condition (4-5), fair condition (3), and substandard condition (1-2). Roads which are rated 
1 are considered highest priority for improvements. It is the City's policy to maintain at least 75% of its 
street system at a good or better condition level. 

The city's condition assessment is determined every two years as the pavement conditions are monitored 
throughout this time. 
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SCHEDULE 3 

CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Schedule of Funding Progress for Other Post Employment Benefit Plan 

September 30, 2015 

(a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) (b-a/c) 
Actuarial UAAL as a 

Fiscal Actuarial Actuarial Accrued Percentage of 
Year Valuation Value of Liability Unfunded Fund Covered Covered 
End Date Assets fAAL) AAL fUAAL) Ratio Payroll Payroll 

09/30/09 10/1/2008 $ - $ 14,668,000 $ 14,668,000 0% $ 5,328,372 275.28% 
09/30/10 10/1/2008 - 14,668,000 14,668,000 0% 5,692,941 257.65% 
09/30/11 10/1/2008 - 14,668,000 14,668,000 0% 5,841,555 251.09% 
09/30/12 10/1/2011 - 20,481,000 20,481,000 0% 5,948,848 345.00% 
09/30/13 10/1/2011 - 20,481,000 20,481,000 0% 5,755,744 356.00% 
09/30/14 10/1/2011 - 20,481,000 20,481,000 0% 5,907,187 347.00% 
09/30/15 10/1/2014 - 10,342,000 10,342,000 0% 6,053,895 170.83% 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Schedule of Proportionate Share of Net Pension Liability 

September 30,2015 

MERS MPERS FRS LASERS 

oo 
M 

Employer's proportion of the net pension liability 2.116933% 0.430206% 0.273126% 0.00031% 
Employer's proportionate share of net pension liability $ 7,562,018 $ 3,370,211 $ 1,474,113 $20,974 
Employer's covered payroll $3,613,092 $ 1,705,932 $580,443 $3,462 
Employer's proportionate share of the net pension liability 
as a percentage of its covered payroll 209% 198% 254% 606% 

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension liability 66.18% 70.73% 72.45% 62.66% 

Notes: 
The amounts presented have a measurement date of June 30, 2015. 

This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10 year trend is compiled, only 
information for those years for which information is available is presented. 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Schedule of Employer Contributions 

September 30, 2015 

MERS MPERS FRS LASERS 

Contractually required contribution 
Contributions in relation to contractually required contributions 
Contribution deficiency (excess) 
Employer's covered payroll 
Contributions as a percentage of covered employee payroll 

$ 709,988 
$ 709,988 
$ 
3,594,876 

19.75% 

$360,404 
$360,404 
$ 

$ 1,165,145 
30.93% 

$ 165,271 
$ 165,271 
$ 
$ 575,259 

28.73% 

$ 1,637 
$ 1,637 
$ 
$4,385 
37.33% 

00 u> 

Notes: 
This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10 year trend is compiled, only 
Information for those years for which information is available is presented. 
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OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

Other supplementary information includes financial statements and schedules not required by the GASB, 
nor a part of the basic financial statements, but are presented for purposes of additional analysis. 

Such statements and schedule include: 

• Combining Statements - Nonmajor governmental funds 
• Schedule of Compensation, Benefits and Other Payments to Agency Head 

Or Chief Executive Officer 



CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Combining Balance Sheet 
Non-Major Governmental Funds 
September 30, 2015 

Debt Service 

Drug 
Task Force 

Fund 

Refunding 
Bonds 

Series, 2002 

Capital 
Improvements 

Street 
Fund 

Sales Tax 
Refunding 

Bonds, 
Series 2010 

Total 
Nonmajor 

Governmental 
Funds 

ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Investments 
Accounts receivable 

$ 20,304 

1,859 

$ 
568,770 

2,069 

$ 8,242 $ 271,789 $ 300,335 
568,770 

3,928 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 22,163 $ 570,839 $ 8,242 $ 271,789 $ 873,033 

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES, 
AND FUND BALANCES 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts, salaries, and other payables $ $ $ $ $ 

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 
Unavailable revenue 172 172 

FUND BALANCES 
Restricted 
Assigned 

21,991 570,839 
8,242 

271,789 864,619 
8,242 

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 21,991 570,839 8,242 271,789 872,861 

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF 
RESOURCES, AND FUND BALANCES $ 22,163 $ 570,839 $ 8,242 $ 271,789 $ 873,033 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and 

Changes in Fund Balances 
Non-Major Governmenta/ Funds 
For the Year Ended September 30,2015 

Special Revenue 

Dmg 
Task Force 

Fund 

Refunding 
Bonds 

Series, 2002 

Capital Projects 
Capital 

Improvements 
Street 
Fund 

Debt Service 
Sales Tax 
Refunding 

Bonds, 
Series 2010 

Total 
Nonmajor 

Governmental 
Funds 

REVENUES 
Fines and forfeittires 
Investment earnings 
Other revenues 

$ 20,509 $ 

177 

- $ 
4,539 

- $ - $ 
234 

20,509 
4,773 

177 
Total revenues 20,686 4,539 234 25,459 

EXPENDITURES 
Public safety 
Debt service 

16,591 -
347,925 

16,591 
347,925 

Total expenditures 16,591 - 347,925 364,516 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
(imder) expenditures 4,095 4,539 (347,691) (339,057) 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 
Operating transfers in 353,025 353,025 

Total other financing sources - - 353,025 353,025 

Net change in fund balance 4,095 4,539 5,334 13,968 

Fund balances — beginning 
Fund balances - ending 

17.896 566.300 8.242 266.455 858.893 Fund balances — beginning 
Fund balances - ending $ 21.991 $ 570,839 $ 8,242 $ 271,789 $ 872,861 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances-

Budget and Actual 
Nonmajor Governmental Fund - Sales Tax Refunding Bonds, Series 2010 
Year Ended September 30, 2015 

SCHEDULE 8 

Budgeted Amounts 
Actual 
GAAP 

Variance with 
Final Budget 

Positive 
Original Final Basis (Negative) 

REVENUES 
Interest $ 150 $ 150 $ 234 $ 84 
Total revenues 150 150 234 84 

EXPENDITURES 
Debt service 

Total expenditures 
349,275 
349,275 

349,275 
349,275 

347,925 
347,925 

1,350 
1,350 

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over 
(under) expenditures (349,125) (349,125) (347,691) 1,434 

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 
Transfers in 
Total other financing sources 

349,125 
349,125 

349,125 
349,125 

353,025 
353,025 

3,900 
3,900 

Net change in fund balance - - 5,334 5,334 

Fund balance at beginning of year 266,455 266,455 266,455 _ 

Fund balance at end of year $ 266,455 $ 266,455 $ 271,789 $ 5,334 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 

Schedule of Compensation, Benefits and Other Payments 
to Agency Head or Chief Executive Officer 

For the Year Ended September 30,2015 

The City of Minden, Louisiana paid the following amounts to the mayor and members of 
the City Council as of September 30, 2015: 

Mayor -
Tommy Davis 

Car Conference 
Compensation Allowance Telephone fees Uniforms Meals 

$ 72,000 $ $ 1,020 $ $ $ 13 

oo oo 
City Council 
Fayrine A. Kennon-Gilbert 10,800 1,200 - -
Magaline Quarles 2,908 300 - -
Benny Gray 14,030 1,200 - -
Wayne Edwards 10,800 1,200 1,030 75 
Vincen Bradford 7,892 800 1,048 75 
Mike Toland 10,800 1,200 447 -

$ 129,230 $ 5,900 $ 1,020 $ 2,525 $ 150 $ 13 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this statement. 
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MICHAEL W. WISE, CP-A 
CARLOS E. MARTIN, CP.A. 
KRISTINE H. COLE, CP.A. 

AMMINI S. KUMAR, CP.A. 
KRISTIEK. MARTIN, CPA 

WISE, MARTIN & COLE, LLC. 
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

601 MAIN STREET P.O. BOX 897 
MINDEN, LOUISIANA 71058-0897 

(318) 377-3171 
FAX (318) 377-3177 

MEMBERS 
AMERICAN INSITUTE OF 

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
SOCIETY OF LOUISIANA 

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS 

BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN 
ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

The Honorable Tommy Davis, Mayor, 
and the Members of the Board of Aldermen 

City of Minden, Louisiana 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United Stales of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Govemmeni Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Minden, Louisiana, as of and for the 
year ended September 30, 2015, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
City of Minden, Louisiana's basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon dated March 31, 2016. 
We issued an adverse opinion on the aggregate discretely presented component units and an unmodified opinion on 
the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information. 

Our report includes a reference to other auditors who audited the financial statements of City of Minden, Employee 
Benefit Plan & Trust as described in our report on the City of Minden, Louisiana's financial statements. This report 
does not include the results of the other auditors' testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance 
and other matters that are reported on separately by those auditors. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the City of Minden, Louisiana's internal control over financial 
reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 
purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the City's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the City's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect and correct 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency or combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the City's financial statements will 
not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to 
merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or, significant 
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that 
we consider to be material weaknesses. We did identify a deficiency in internal control, described in the 
accompanying schedule of current year findings as item 2015-02 that we consider to be a significant deficiency. 

Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Minden, Louisiana's financial statements are 
free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, 
contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the 
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions 
was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests 
disclosed an instance of noncompliance or other matters that is required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards and which is described in the accompanying schedule of current year findings as item 2015-01. 

City of Minden, Louisiana's Response to Findings 

The City of Minden, Louisiana's response to the findings identified in our audit is described in the accompanying 
schedule of current year findings. The City of Minden, Louisiana's response was not subjected to the auditing 
procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. Although the intended use of these reports may be limited, under Louisiana Revised 
State 24:513, this report is distributed by the Office of the Louisiana Legislative Auditor as a public document. 

<ls-L- k,(LC 
Minden, Louisiana 
March 31, 2016 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 

SCHEDULE OF CURRENT YEAR FINDINGS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

2015-01 Public bid law requirements 
Specific requirement: Louisiana Revised Statutes 38:2211-38:2226 govern the process for letting 
contracts or obtaining quotes when entering into contract for purchases of material and supplies or 
contracts for public works projects that cost in excess of $150,000. For purchases of $10,000 or 
more, but less than $30,000, shall be made by obtaining no fewer than three telephone or facsimile 
quotations. 

Condition found: We noted the following three instances where the City did not comply with the 
requirements of the public bid law: 

• In March, 2015, the City paid $14,996 for bailfield scoreboards. No quotes were observed for 
this purchase. 

• In March, 2015, the City purchased a wastewater screen for $135,000, and used City labor for 
the installation. The City considered this project to be a public works project under the 
threshold of $ 150,000, however, no estimates of cost of labor to install the screen were 
provided. We were unable to determine whether the City complied with public bid law for 
this purchase. 

• In May, 2015, the City paid $15,884 for polypropylene for the water plant. No quotes were 
observed for this purchase. 

Possible asserted effect (cause and effect) 
Cause: Unknown 

Effect: City made purchases without complying with bid law requirements. 

Recommendation to prevent future occurrences 
We recommend that the City ensure that all purchases are in compliance with the Louisiana Public 
Bid Law and ensure that written bids/quotes are solicited for purchases (including recurring 
purchases) that exceed the applicable dollar threshold provided in the Louisiana Public Bid Law. 
Adequate documentation demonstrating such compliance is to be maintained and filed in an 
organized manner. 

View of Responsible Official 
In reference to the findings under 2015-01 Public bid law requirements, the three incidents 
happened last year in March/May, while the City Clerk was responding to similar findings from the 
previous audit. In a letter to Mr. Harris (Assistant Legislative Auditor & Director of Advisory 
Services), dated June 10, 2015, the City Clerk indicated that he had mailed memorandums, copies of 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 

SCHEDULE OF CURRENT YEAR FINDINGS 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

RS 38:2212 as well as excerpts of the Legislative Auditor's website referring to public bid law to 
each individual Department Supervisor and asked for compliance. 

For the purchase in May 2015, quotes were observed (via email) but the conversations with the 
vendors were not permanently secured to be made part of the purchase process. In this case, the City 
also considered the project to be a public works project (replacement of filter media for a public water 
filtration system). 

2015-02 Controls over Davroll 

Specific requirement: The City's policy and various laws address the compensation paid to 
employees of the City. The City's policy indicates that municipal fire and police employees will be 
governed by the City policy, unless in direct conflict with Municipal Fire and Police Civil Service 
Rules and Regulations. It also states that civil service employees will continue to be paid in 
accordance with Louisiana Revised Statutes and civil service rules. 

Louisiana Constitution Article VII, Section 14 (A) states that the funds, credit, property, or things of 
value of the state or of any political subdivision shall not be loaned, pledged, or donated to or for any 
person, association, or corporation, public or private. 

Condition found: During the year, the City's internal review of payroll calculations revealed both 
overpayments and underpayments being made to certain employees of the police and fire 
departments. Overpayments to employees may be a prohibited donation of public funds and a 
violation of the state Constitution. 

In addition to the City's findings, we noted that employees of the police and fire departments received 
holiday pay for holidays that fell on the employees' day off. We were unable to determine whether 
the compensation for holiday pay was a violation of the civil service rules, state law and/or City 
policy. 

Possible asserted effect (cause and effect") 
Cause: Unknown 

Effect: Compensation payment to City employees may be incorrectly calculated. 

93 



CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 

SCHEDULE OF CURRENT YEAR FINDINGS 
For the Year Ended September 30,2015 

Recommendation to prevent future occurrences 
We recommend the following: 

• City should develop internal controls over payroll to ensure that compensation is being 
correctly calculated and public funds are spent in accordance with state law. 

• The City should consult with legal counsel to determine whether it is entitled or authorized to 
compensate civil service employees for holiday pay when the holiday falls on the employees' 
day off. 

• We recommend that City consult with legal counsel to determine their compliance with the 
requirements of Article VII, Section 14 concerning any overpayments of compensation. 

View of Responsible Official 
As soon as the City became aware of a possible overpayment to one of his employees, the City started 
an internal review, which confirmed not only the previous assumption but also other discrepancies 
(Holiday Pay, etc.). The City Attorney has been requested to provide legal counsel in this matter. 
Meanwhile city employees - preparing payroll - attended a training class with the software provider to 
use the installed software package to the fullest extent and limit manual interference to a minimum. 
Additional personnel was assigned to approve any changes to employees data related to payroll. 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 

Summary Schedule of Prior Year Findings 
For the Year Ended September 30, 2015 

2014-01 Deposits in excess of adequate security 

Finding: According to Louisiana Revised Statute 39:1225, adequate security is to be pledged by the City 
for deposits in excess of federal depository insurance. As of September 30,2014, the City had 
approximately $308,059 in deposits with a local bank, which were not adequately secured. 

Status: Resolved. 

2014-02 Public bid law requirements 
Finding: Louisiana Revised Statutes 38:2211 -38:2226, govern the process for letting contracts or 
obtaining quotes when entering into contract for purchases of material and supplies or contracts for public 
works projects that cost in excess of $150,000. As of September 30,2014, the following items were 
reported where the City did not comply with the requirements of the public bid law: 

• The City paid $12,659 for 2200 gallons of caustic soda. No quotes were obtained for this 
purchase. 

• The City paid $156,625 to repair a turbine. This public works project was not let for bid. 

Status: Not resolved, see 2015-01. 

2014-03 Downtown Development District Commission 

Fitiding: Louisiana Revised Statute 33:2740.24 states that the commission of the Downtown Development 
District of the City of Minden be governed members who are qualified voters of the city of Minden, and 
shall have their principal place of business or profession in, the Downtown Development District. As of 
September 30, 2014, the Downtown Development District Commission had ineligible members. 

Status: Resolved. 

ML 2014-01 Code of Ethics 

Finding: Section 1113 of the Code of Governmental Ethics (LSA RS 42:113) prohibits public servants 
and their family from entering into certain transactions. No appointment member of any board or 
commission, member of his immediate family or legal entity in which he has a substantial economic 
interest shall bid on or enter into or be in any way interested in any contract, subcontract, or other 
transaction which is under the supervision or jurisdiction of agency of the appointed member. A payment 
of $3,500 payment was made during 2014 to business which was directly owned by a City employee. The 
spouse of the City employee was also serving the Downtown Development District Commission at the 
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CITY OF MINDEN, LOUISIANA 

Summary Schedule of Prior Year Findings 
For the Year Ended September 30,2015 

time was entered. 

Status: Resolved. 

ML 2014-02 Surplus property law reouirements 

Finding: Louisiana Revised Statute 49:125 allows the sale of surplus property at public auction after 
appropriate advertisement. Notice of the sale should be published at least once at least 15 days prior to the 
sale, indicating the minimum bid of the appraised value of the items and the right to reject any and all bids. 
A City surplus sale was held on May 17, 2014. The notice of the sale was published 8 days prior to the 
sale, on May 9 and 16. 

Status: Resolved. 
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 

The Honorable Tommy Davis, mayor, 
And the Members of the Board of Aldermen 

City ofMinden, Louisiana 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type 
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Minden, 
Louisiana as of and for the year ended September 30, 2015, which collectively comprise the City's basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents and have issued our report thereon dated March 31, 
2016. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of American and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 

As part of our examination, we have issued our report on the financial statements, dated March 30, 2016, 
and our repot on internal control and compliance with laws, regulation, contracts, and grants, dated March 
30, 2016. 

During the course of our examination, we became aware of the following matters which represent 
immaterial deviations or compliance or suggestions for improved internal controls. 

ML 2015-01 Capital assets recordkeeping 

Criteria: Louisiana Revised Statute 24:51 SB requires the municipality to maintain records of its capital 
assets. The listing of capital assets is to be updated each year for assets acquired and disposed. Failure to 
identify and periodically account for municipality assets/property exposes the municipality to possible 
loss, theft, and misuse of assets. 

Condition: We noted several capital assets purchased during the year that were not added to the capital 
asset listing maintained by the City. 

Cause: The City did not update the listing for some assets acquired during the year. 

Effect: Asset listing did not include all purchases. 

Recommendation: The City should update listing of capital assets each year for all assets acquired and 
disposed. 
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ML 2015-02 Process oversuDPlementai nav 

Criteria: The City is required to certify to the state treasurer the number of full-time commissioned 
officers in the municipality's employ. 

Condition: When certifying the number of full-time officers employed by the City, the City failed to 
remove a police officer who left the employment of the City on September 2, 2013, from the supplemental 
pay warrants submit to the state treasurer. 

Cause: Unknown 

Effect: The City reimbursed $8,647 to the Louisiana Department of Public Safety and Corrections, for the 
overpayments made by the state to the former City police employee. 

Recommendation: We recommend that the City implement a process to ensure that supplemental pay 
warrants are updated and certify the proper information. In addition, the City has setup an installment 
agreement to recoup this payment from the former employee, and we recommend that the City make 
efforts to ensure that the full amount is collected. 

ML 2015-03 Enforcement of agreements 

Criteria: The City entered into a commercial lease with a corporation to lease all of the concession stands 
and related movables, with certain exceptions. The lease was for a term of seven (7) months, commencing 
on April 1,2015, and ending on October 31, 2015, with a monthly rental. According to the agreement, 
should the lessee fail to pay any installments when they become due and payable and continues to be in 
default for a period of 10 days after written notice by the City, then the City has the option to (a) cancel the 
lease, or (b) to accelerate all rent due for the unexpired remaining term of the lease. 

Condition: The lessee was in default as of September 30, 2015, with the City receiving only three (3) 
payments from the lessee. No written notice has been provided to the lessee exercising any options to 
cancel or collect. 

Cause: Unknown 

Effect: City has not enforced collections of its commercial lease, which may be a prohibited donation of 
public assets and a violation of the state Constitution. 

Recommendation: We recommend that the City enforce the terms of its agreement. 

ML 2015-04 Controls over utility billings 

Criteria: The city's cut-off policies and procedures are designed to ensure that all delinquent accounts are 
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collected on a timely basis or that service is discontinued. 

Condition; We noted the following items concerning controls over utility billings process: 

• A council member with a commercial business account whose utility usage appears to be 
incorrectly calculated. 

• Fourteen city employees and a council member had utility accounts with balances in arrears during 
the year. These accounts were not cutoff according to City policy. 

• Four currently employed City employees had utility accounts with balances in arrears that were 
fmalled by the City. However, overdue balances were not collected. 

• We noted one instance where a water department employee, responsible for recording utility 
payments, recorded her personal utility account payment into the utility billing system. The City's 
policy requires a water department employee to give their payment to another water department 
employee for posting, and does not allow employees of the City to enter their personal utility bill 
payments into the billing system. 

Cause: City policies are not being followed. 

Effect: Lack of collection of payments for City utility services may be considered a donation of public 
assets which violates Louisiana Constitution Article VII, Section 14. 

Recommendation: We recommend that the City develop controls over utility billings to address 
enforcement of cutoff procedures and collection policies. 

We recommend management address the foregoing issues as an improvement to operations and the 
administration of public programs. We are available to further explain the suggestions or help implement 
the recommendations. 

Minden, Louisiana 
March 31, 2016 
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Tommy Davis, Mayor 
www.mmdenusa.com 

520 Broadway •P.O. Box 580 • Minden, Louisiana 71058 • Telephone (318) 377-2144 • Fax (318) 371-4200 

LOUISIANA LEGISLATIVE AUDITOR 
1600 NORTU THIRD STREET 
P.O. BOX 94397 
BATON ROUGE. LOUISIANA 70804-9397 

Re: Management Letter - Audit 2014/2015 

Dear Sir / Madam: 

Below please find the City of Minden's response to the Management Letter dated March 30, 
2016; 

ML 2015-01 Capital assets recordkeeping 

Attached please find the current policy and instructions to the individual department supervisors 
for the yearly inventory. The City will instruct - by memorandum - each department again to 
carefully and correctly execute this requirement. Furthermore the accounting department was 
advised to ensure, that all capital asset purchases are listed on the yearend inventory list. 

ML 2015-02 Process over supplemental pay 

Each party involved in the process of supplemental pay has been made aware of the recent 
problem and the consequences. An additional layer of oversight was implemented by asking the 
Assistant City Clerk to check the actual payroll against the supplemental pay warrants. 

ML 2015-03 Enforcement of agreements 

It is correct that the City has not enforced collections of its commercial lease simply because of 
overlooking the agreement. It is an agreement we never had before and for the first 3 month the 
lessee satisfied his portion of the contract. Meanwhile the City Clerk has contacted the lessee (see 
letter dated February 29, 2016) and proposed a payment plan to collect the outstanding rental fee. 
Other agreements were never in question and the City will make certain that the lessee in this case 
will follow through on his commitment. 

Michael Fluhr 
City Clerk - Treasurer 

FayrineA. Kennon-Gilbert 
Councilwoman - District B 

George W. Rolfe, Jr. 
Public Works Director 

Vincen Bradford 
Councilman - District C 

Charles Minifleld 
City Attorney 

Mike Toland 
Councilman - District D 

Wayne Edwards 
Councilman - District A 

Benny Gray 
Councilman - District E 



ML 2015-04 Controls over utility billings 

The City concurs with the findings and has instructed the department supervisor (verbally and in 
writing) relentlessly to enforce the City's policy to disconnect the utility service if payments are 
not received at the requested time. 
In case of the wrongful calculation of a council members commercial account, the mistake was 
corrected and the City will make every effort to recover lost revenues. 
Employees in the Utility (Water) Department have been advised again that nobody can enter their 
own payment into the billing system. 

If there are any questions that you need answered, I will be happy to answer them. I do not believe 
there was any malicious intent to defraud the City 

Sincerely, 

Tommy Davis, Mayor 
City of Minden 

enclosures 

Michael Fluhr 
City Clerk - Treasurer 

FayrlneA. Keiinon-Gilbert 
Councilwoman - District B 

George W. Rolfe, Jr. 
Public Works Director 

Vincen Bradford 
Councilman - District C 

Charles Minifleld 
City Attorney 

Mike Toland 
Councilman • District D 

Wayne Edwards 
Councilman • District A 

Benny Gray 
Councilman - District E 



MEMORANDUM 

TO: All Department Heads 

FROM: Michael Fluhr 

DATE: August 27, 2015 

SUBJECT: Annuallnventory Review 

Attached is a listing of the inventoried items in your department. Please verify this list to make 
sure these items are still located in your department and to determine if any additional items 
should be added. 

If any changes are needed, contact Jane by Thursday, October 1,2015. If any deletions are 
necessary, please note the disposition of the deleted items. If the inventory is correct as is, please 
note this on the list, then date and sign the list and return it to Jane by October 1. 

Thank you for your cooperation. Please let me know if you need additional information or have 
any questions about your inventory. 

ju 

Attachment 



Tommy Davis, Mayor 
www.nuadenusa.com 

520 Broadway 'P.O. Box 580 • Minden, Louisiana 71058 • Telephone (318) 377-2144 • Fax (318) 371-4200 

February 29,2016 

Party Express Catering 
1004 Recreation Drive 
Minden, LA 71055 

RE: 2014 and 2015 Food & Beverage Concession Service Agreements 

Dear Mr. Hall: 

Part of the Cit/s yearly audit is the verification of compliance of lease and rental agreements. Our 
auditors noticed, that in reference to the 2014 Food and Beverage Concession Service contract, the 
financial commitment from your side in this contract Indicate a delinquency of the monthly base rental 
fee for several month. 

According to our records, the last payment was made in June 18,2015. Another portion of the agreement 
was the 6 % charge on any monthly proceeds exceeding a certain amount. Here we would like to ask you 
for clarification - not only - of your last two payments in the amount of $48 on Sept. 28, 2015 and 
$1,952.48 on July 06,2015, but also about earnings in October 2015. 

While we appreciate your commitment and quality service to this community, its residents and the visitors 
to the Recreation Center, the City of Minden has to require the fulfillment of the contract. 

Therefore we would like to propose the following payment plan for the outstanding monthly base rental 
fee in the total amount of $ 3,428.00: 

a) Payment of $ 500 each month, starting March 15,2016 with the last payment of $428 on 
Sept. 15,2016 

For the additional compensation of the 2014 contract as well as the rental fees of the 2015 contract, we 
would like to suggest the following procedure: 

b) Payment of the 6 % over the specific amount (if any) for the old contract on March 15, 2016 

c) Payment of the 6% rental fee of the total gross receipts for the 2015 contract (November 
2015 through March 2016) by March 31,2016. 

Michael Fluhr 
City Clerk - Treasurer 

George W. Rolfe, Jr. 
Public Works Director 

Fayrine A. Kennon-Gilbert Vincen Bradford 
Councilwoman - District B Councilman - District C 

Charles Minifield 
City Attorney 

Mike Toland 
Councilman - District D 

Wayne Edwards 
Councilman - District A 

Benny Gray 
Councilman - District E 



We hope, our proposal will find your approval and we are looking forward to your payments. If 1 can be 
of any further assistance, please feel free to contact me. 

City CI kk/Treasurer 

ichael Fluhr 
y Clerk - Treasurer 

yrine A. Kennon-Gilbert 
mcilwoman - District B 

George W. Rolfe, Jr. 
Public Works Director 

Vincen Bradford 
Councilman - District C 

Charles Minifield 
City Attorney 

Mike Toland 
Councilman - District D 

Wayne Edwards 
Councilman - District A 

Benny Gray 
Councilman - District E 


